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Project
Chota Motala Bridge

Locati on
Pietermaritzburg, South Africa

Scope of works
Post-tensioning and launching services 
of the 220m long bridge over one of 
South Africa’s busiest nati onal routes, 
the N3.

Project
Seaford Rail Extension

Locati on
Seaford, Adelaide

Scope of works
Post-tensioning and launching services 
of the 1,123.9m long twin rail track 
bridge.

Project
Melbourne Park Eastern Plaza Project

Locati on
Melbourne, Victoria

Scope of works
Structure package including detailed 
excavati on, concrete and reinforcement 
supply and place, post-tensioning, 
formwork and external paving to over 
60,000m2 fl oor plate.

Project
Roseires Dam Heightening Project

Locati on
Ad Damazin, Republic of Sudan

Scope of works
Manufacture, transport, install, grout, 
stress, monitor and cap 806, 1206 and 
5506 permanent anchors.

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS
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Project
WORK//ZONE

Locati on
Perth, Western Australia

Scope of works
Design and installati on of 
post-tensioning.

Project
Lake Cowal - Barrick Gold Mine

Locati on
West Wyalong, New South Wales

Scope of works
Blast hole and grade control 
drilling services.

Project
GASCO 4th NGL Train Project 

Locati on
Al Ruwais, Abu Dhabi

Scope of works
Shop drawings, supply and supervision 
of installati on for post-tensioning works 
on LPG tanks.

Project
Edith River Bridge Repairs

Locati on
Katherine, Northern Territory

Scope of works
Remedial works including verti cal and 
horizontal jacking of spans, crack repair 
and carbon fi bre strengthening.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
10 YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
External sales of goods and rendering 
of services ($’000)

280,478 237,139 253,585 319,210 282,573 141,239 104,405 106,948 78,453 102,336

Profi t (loss) before tax from conti nuing 
operati ons ($’000)

10,697 11,865 9,130 9,237 20,708 12,316 7,165 3,444 (8,231) 580

Profi t (loss) aft er tax ($’000) (1) 7,996 4,472 3,270 8,887 15,182 8,824 5,345 2,142 (8,589) 450

Shareholders funds at end of year 
($’000)

76,511 71,833 70,906 56,667 48,261 33,179 24,750 14,886 9,303 17,776

Net tangible assets ($’000) (1) 57,072 51,394 50,467 40,482 32,021 27,936 21,258 12,881 7,298 14,644

Return on shareholder’s funds (1) 10.5% 6.2% 4.6% 15.6% 31.5% 26.6% 21.6% 14.4% (92.3%) 2.5%

Return on sales 2.9% 1.9% 1.3% 2.8% 5.4% 6.2% 5.1% 2.0% (10.9%) 0.4%

Basic earnings per share (cents) 12.5 7.0 5.3 18.1 31.9 21.2 15.2 8.4 (33.7) 1.9

Net tangible asset backing per share 
(cents)

89.7 80.4 79.0 82.4 65.3 60.3 54.6 50.3 28.5 57.4

Dividends declared for the year (cents) 5.0 4.0 2.5 - 11.5 10.0 7.5 1.5 - -

Dividends ti mes covered 2.5 1.75 2.1 N/A 2.8 2.1 2.0 5.6 N/A N/A

Depreciati on and amorti sati on ($’000) 10,931 9,158 7,717 7,148 5,699 4,102 2,946 2,418 2,408 2,595

Interest paid ($’000) 1,551 1,074 1,067 1,564 951 381 541 1,023 1,136 663

Interest received ($’000) 128 115 39 87 410 173 302 176 8 -

Share price at 30 June $0.71 $0.69 $0.48 $0.79 $2.55 $2.82 $1.04 $0.61 $0.48 $0.40

Shares on issue at 30 June (‘000) 63,646 63,884 63,884 49,142 49,142 46,438 38,950 25,631 25,624 25,499

Market capitalisati on at 30 June ($’000) 45,189 44,080 30,664 38,822 125,312 130,955 40,508 15,635 12,300 10,200

(1) Adjusted for minority equity interests where applicable
Note: 2010 and 2011 adjusted for disconti nued operati ons

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE 12 MONTH PERIODS TO 30 JUNE
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ABOUT US
History

Founded in Victoria in 1961, the Company commenced trading as BBR Australia Pty Ltd and listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange as Structural Systems Limited in 1987. The fi rst project the Company undertook was the supply and installati on 
of rock anchors for the Snowy Mountains scheme.  Now more than 50 years on from that fi rst project, our organisati on 
has grown from a small privately owned specialist post-tensioning company to a diverse internati onal contractor who has 
never been afraid of taking on a challenge.  We have completed projects throughout the world, including Australia, Hong 
Kong, Thailand, the Philippines, Singapore, Ireland, the United Kingdom, South Africa, Zambia, Sudan, Bahrain, Qatar, 
Oman and throughout the United Arab Emirates.

Operati ons

The Company’s head offi  ce is located in South Melbourne, Victoria, and in Australia manages its operati ons from offi  ces 
in Melbourne, Sydney, Brisbane, Perth, Adelaide, Kalgoorlie, Townsville. Internati onally the Company has offi  ces in Dubai, 
Abu Dhabi, Sharjah and Johannesburg. The Company employs approximately 850 people worldwide.

Companies within the Structural Systems Group are Structural Systems Limited, Structural Systems (Northern) Pty Ltd, 
Structural Systems (Remedial) Pty Ltd, Structural Systems (Southern) Pty Ltd, Structural Systems (Constructi on) Pty Ltd, 
Structural Systems (Western) Pty Ltd, Structural Systems (Civil) Pty Ltd, Structural Systems (Bridge Maintenance) Pty Ltd, 
Refobar Australia Pty Ltd, Meridian Concrete Australia Pty Ltd, ROCK Australia Mining & Civil Pty Ltd , NASA Structural 
Systems LLC, Emirates & Australia Constructi on Systems LLC, Structural Systems Middle East LLC and Structural Systems 
(Africa).

The Company operates in the constructi on and resource sectors. Constructi on sector acti viti es include infrastructure 
works, post-tensioning, concrete services, manufacture of post-tensioning components and remedial services.  Acti viti es 
undertaken in the resource sector include drill and blast as well as geotechnical and radar services.

Structural Systems have been involved in the design and constructi on of many iconic projects over the years. Some of the 
more signifi cant projects in recent ti mes include the Fiona Stanley Hospital in Perth, Urban Superway and Seaford Rail 
Extension in Adelaide, Royal North Shore Hospital in Sydney and the Melbourne Park Eastern Plaza project in Melbourne.

Resource Sector

Mining Services

The Company’s Mining Services division, ROCK Australia, is a specialist provider of supply and contracti ng services to 
mining & civil projects throughout Australasia.  The division provides services to gold, copper, nickel, iron ore, coal, mine 
infrastructure, road and rail projects. ROCK’s current client list includes BHP Billiton, Rio Tinto, Newcrest Mining, Barrick 
Gold, Newmont, Mt Gibson Iron, SCT, BMA and Queensland Rail. Committ ed to operati onal excellence through safety, 
quality and innovati on, ROCK’s services include:

• Drilling

• Blasti ng

• Geotechnical

• Environmental

• Technical Access

• Manufacture & Supply

• Movement and Survey Radar
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Constructi on Sector

Infrastructure

The Structural Systems infrastructure division provides design and constructi on services and constructi on systems to 
projects such as;

• New bridge constructi on and strengthening and rehabilitati on of existi ng bridge structures. New bridge 
constructi on systems include incrementally launched, balanced canti lever, segmental and span by span bridges

• Design and installati on of ground anchors to strengthen dam walls and other civil structures

• Heavy lift ing / shift ing of stadium roofs, control towers, water bowls and bridges

• New concrete storage tank and silo constructi on including slipforming and post-tensioning of storage tanks, silos, 
lift  cores and concrete gravity structures

• Design and installati on of cable stays for bridges and stadiums

Post-Tensioning

Structural Systems are one of the market leaders in post-tensioning technology.  Post-Tensioning is a method of 
reinforcing (strengthening) concrete or other materials with high-strength steel strands.  The benefi ts post-tensioning 
brings to a structure include large open plan, column free fl oor spaces, faster constructi on ti mes, reduced foundati on 
loads and improved defl ecti on control. The technology reduces the amount of conventi onal reinforcement and 
concrete required thus delivering a more economical and environmentally friendly soluti on.  The Company is 
committ ed to improving the standard of design and constructi on in the post-tensioning industry and is a founding 
corporate member of the Post-Tensioning Insti tute of Australia Limited. The major markets that the division operates 
in are:

• Retail

• Commercial

• Industrial

• Residenti al

• Educati onal and Healthcare

Manufacturing

The Group’s manufacturing arm, Refobar Australia is based in Narangba north of Brisbane in Queensland.  Refobar 
manufactures and supplies a wide range of componentry required for any post-tensioning system. Additi onally, 
Refobar supplies the resources industry with high quality cast iron, steel and plasti c components as well as supplying 
consumable items used in pre-cast concrete.

Concrete Services

Meridian Concrete is the foremost provider of concrete and related services to the Melbourne constructi on industry. 
Meridian works closely with the Company’s post-tensioning division to provide value engineered soluti ons that 
delivers economical and environmentally effi  cient outcomes. In its 15 years of operati on Meridian has been involved 
with the completi on of many of Melbourne’s major projects. 

Meridian off ers the following range of services:

• Design and constructi on of structure packages

• Structural and architectural concrete supply and place

• Reinforcement supply and place

• Detailed and bulk excavati on
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Remedial Services

The Structural Systems remedial division is a recognised leader in the repair, rehabilitati on, protecti on and maintenance 
of building, industrial and infrastructure assets for both private and public sector clients. The specialist services off ered by 
the division include:

• Concrete repair and protecti on

• Building façade refurbishment

• Electrochemical protecti on of structures including cathodic protecti on

• Structural strengthening including applicati on of fi bre reinforced polymers (FRP)

The sectors in which the remedial division operates are:

• Commercial, industrial and high rise residenti al buildings

• Civil and marine structures

• Chemical processing 

• Petrochemical

• Water treatment

• Power generati on

• Mining

Technology & Partnerships

Structural Systems is the sole franchisee of the BBR licensed system in the countries in which it operates. BBR is 
recognized as the leading group of specialist engineering contractors in the fi eld of post-tensioning, stay cable and related 
constructi on engineering. BBR technologies have been applied to a vast array of structures – such as bridges, buildings, 
cryogenic LNG and LPG tanks, dams, marine structures, nuclear power stati ons, retaining walls, tanks/silos, towers, 
tunnels, wastewater-treatment plants, water reservoirs and wind farms. 

ROCK Australia is the appointed partner of Reutech Mining for the supply, hire and support of MSR (Movement & 
Surveying Radar) systems for Australasia. During the fi nancial year, ROCK also developed a partnership with Sedna and 
was appointed the exclusive distributor for Geo-Cam for Australasia.  Geo-Cam is a mobile IP surveillance system that 
allows for monitoring of operati ons in open pit environments.

ROCK conti nues to work in partnership with a number of specialist product suppliers as a quality-assured installer of 
rockfall protecti on and slope stabilisati on systems.  ROCK has appointed an internati onal agent for the further promoti on 
of the ROCK MESHA™ system to overseas clients.  ROCK is an accredited member of IRATA Internati onal (Industrial Rope 
Access Trade Associati on), and is approved by a third-party audit process to internati onally approved and recognised 
standards to conduct technical rope access work.

Structural Systems are the exclusive agent to supply and install Macalloy Stressbar Systems in Australia, UAE, Qatar, 
Bahrain, Oman and South Africa.  Macalloy have been leaders in the design, manufacture and supply of threaded bar 
systems since 1947 and are ideal for the economic applicati on of post-tensioning forces on relati vely short tendons.  
Through the use of threaded connecti on and anchorages they are simple to use and lend themselves to many 
applicati ons.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORTCHAIRMAN’S REPORT
On behalf of the Board it is my pleasure to present the Structural Systems 
Limited Annual Report for the period ending 30 June 2012.

The fi nancial positi on of the Company conti nued its improvement achieved 
in 2011 with an increase in both revenue and profi tability reported for the 
year. The net profi t aft er tax of $8.0 million refl ects a solid eff ort across the 
Group with all operati ng divisions making a positi ve contributi on to the 
bott om line.

I am pleased to be able to report a fi nal fully franked dividend of 3 cents per 
share. This brings the total dividend for the year to 5 cents which is a 25% 
increase on the prior year. With a gearing level of 14% and strong operati ng 
cash fl ow of $15.4 million the Company’s balance sheet remains in good 
shape.

In these uncertain ti mes risk management is at the forefront of our business 
strategies and decision making. Considerable eff ort has gone into improving 
and enhancing our risk management systems throughout the year. These 
eff orts have resulted in tangible improvements in outcomes parti cularly in 
the Group’s safety performance. 

The Group implemented an upgraded SQE management and reporti ng 
system during the year. This has assisted in signifi cantly improving the level 
of safety awareness and management throughout the Group. An example 
of the improved performance is our mining services division ROCK Australia 
achieving its lowest MTI, LTI and TRIFR result in 5 years.

I thank my fellow directors and our staff  for their conti nuing eff orts during 
the period.

Robert Freedman

Chairman

“An example of 
the improved 
performance 
is our mining 

services 
division ROCK 

Australia 
achieving its 
lowest MTI, 

LTI and TRIFR 
result in 5 

years.”

Robert Frer edman
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORTMANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
I am pleased to report that the Group conti nued on from its improved FY2011 result with another increase in profi t 
for the FY2012. The improved performance of the Group was not only in its key fi nancial metrics but also in the 
Group’s safety performance outcomes. The quality of the skills and capability of the personnel within the Group has 
enabled our involvement in a wide range of projects throughout the year. The diversity of these projects brings with 
it unique challenges so it is parti cularly pleasing that our safety performance in FY2012 was the best it has been for a 
number of years.

Financial Performance

Revenue for the year was $280.5 million which was an increase of 18% on the corresponding period. Demand for 
the Group’s services saw most operati ng divisions deliver revenue growth in FY2012. Overall revenue from both 
Constructi on and Mining Services acti viti es was up on the prior year.

The Group recorded a net profi t aft er tax (NPAT) of $8.0 million. This result was an increase of 79% on the prior 
period, and a 145% increase on the 2010 result. Despite diffi  cult trading conditi ons parti cularly in the constructi on 
sector, all divisions within the group traded profi tably. 

The profi t for the year included $1.86 million (aft er tax) loss in relati on to the Eastern Treatment Plant. The Board 
determined that due to the ongoing nature of this project that the loss would be taken into account in conti nuing 
operati ons.

EBITDA increased from $21.98 million to $23.05 million for the year ended 30 June 2012. Depreciati on expense 
increased by 19% to $10.93 million. Interest expense increased by 44% to $1.55 million. Interest ti mes cover (EBIT/Net 
Interest) was 8.5 for the year. The increase in  depreciati on and interest expense was due to increased investment in 
equipment for the company’s mining services business ROCK Australia. Finance costs att ributable to working capital 
requirements reduced by 68.1% as the Group’s cash positi on conti nued to improve throughout the year.

At balance date, the Group’s net debt was $12.3 million; representi ng an increase of $4.1 million on the prior year. 
This debt is solely att ributable to Hire Purchase funding of capital assets, primarily associated with ROCK.  Despite the 
increase in net debt the Company’s balance sheet is in strong shape with a gearing rati o (net debt to net debt plus 
equity) of 14% and cash of $8.2 million. The value of net tangible assets per share increased from $0.80 to $0.90

Receivables increased by $9.3 million to $64.0 million and payables increased $5.9 million to $40.5 million as a result 
of a period of greater acti vity in the last two months of the fi nancial year in comparison to 2011.  Cashfl ow from 
operati ng acti viti es increased 22% to $15.5 million for the year. 

Earnings per share increased 79% to 12.5 cents in 2012. The company had a share buyback in place during the year 
and at balance date had purchased and cancelled 238,541 shares.
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Work in hand (WIH) for the Group at year end was $197 million, down 5% on the prior year but up $27 million on 
the balance reported at 31 December 2011. ROCK WIH of $108 million includes ten drill term contracts. A number of 
these contracts conti nue beyond the 2013 fi nancial year. 

Constructi on WIH was $88 million, a contracti on of 7% on the June 2011 balance. The majority of this decrease was 
a result of Meridian WIH reducing as the Melbourne Park project nears completi on. The Group’s post-tensioning 
division increased its WIH compared to the corresponding period and is well placed for achieving higher volumes in 
the 2013 fi nancial year.

An overview of the performance of various business segments is discussed below:

Mining Services

Revenue in the year in review increased by 20% to $99.13 million. Contract drilling was the principal acti vity 
undertaken during the year. 

The majority of work was undertaken in Western Australia with 55% of revenue from acti viti es in that state. ROCK’s 
presence in Queensland conti nues to develop with that state accounti ng for 28% of revenue. Drilling works at the 
BMA Saraji coal project came into full producti on in January of this year. This was ROCK’s fi rst producti on drilling 
contract in the coal sector and has performed in line with budget.

ROCK increased services to the gold and iron ore sectors during the year with gold accounti ng for 35% of revenue. 
The introducti on of services to the coal sector has provided greater resource diversifi cati on. The majority of ROCK’s 
acti viti es are in open pit mines.

ROCK is the Australasian agent for the Reutech Movement & Surveying Radar (MSR) system. This system is recognised 
as world leading technology and ROCK conti nues to experience increasing demand for sales and rental of MSR units. 
ROCK currently provides MSR units to 15 mine sites in Australasia on term contracts and also provides these units for 
trial programs and short term pit wall monitoring. Outside of Australia ROCK supplies MSR units to Indonesia and PNG 
and during the year supplied its fi rst unit into New Zealand. Revenue from sales and rental of MSR units accounts for 
12% of ROCK’s revenue. 

ROCK’s profi tability was adversely impacted in the second half of the year by lower than budgeted uti lisati on rates and 
increased maintenance costs. Uti lisati on rates were aff ected by changes in mine drilling schedules and in some cases 
a  reducti on in required drilling producti on rates. ROCK has been able to redirect the under-uti lised rigs and currently 
the drill fl eet uti lisati on is in line with management expectati ons. In additi on ROCK has capacity within its fl eet so that 
drilling opportuniti es with short lead ti mes can be targeted.
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Constructi on Services
Infrastructure

Revenue from Infrastructure projects was $32.66 million which was in line with the prior corresponding period. This 
year the number and diversity of projects completed actually increased and this demonstrates the broader capability 
that now exists within this division. Bridge constructi on was the main type of project undertaken during the year with 
major projects being the Seaford Rail Viaduct and the South Road Superway in Adelaide, Goongoongup Rail Bridge 
in Perth and the constructi on of the bridge and arch at Warramboo in the Pilbara region. During the year the division 
commenced its fi rst dam anchoring upgrade project outside of Australia. This project at the Roseires Dam on the Blue 
Nile in Sudan has performed above expectati ons and will be completed later this year.

Post-tensioning

Revenue from Post-tensioning increased by 5% to $49.2 million. The majority of the increase was due to improved 
sales by the Group’s manufacturing business, Refobar. Revenue from onsite acti viti es was fl at compared to the prior 
year. Revenue from operati ons in NSW and Victoria in parti cular were lower than expected due to inclement weather. 

Concrete Services 

Revenue from Concrete Services increased by 43% to $80.4 million. A signifi cant part of this increase was att ributable 
to the Melbourne Park Redevelopment Eastern Plaza. This was an important contract for Meridian and is in the 
latt er stages of completi on. A small profi t was recorded by Meridian in the 2012 fi nancial year. This a signifi cant 
improvement over last year’s pre-tax loss of $6.4 million.

Middle East

With litt le improvement in trading conditi ons in the Middle East the scale back of acti viti es in the region conti nued 
during the year. Revenue decreased by 23% to $6.03 million. The division traded profi tably with a result in line with 
budget expectati ons.

Remedial 

Revenue from Remedial increased by 22% to $18.6 million. This increase was achieved through greater involvement 
in infrastructure maintenance and a broader geographical focus. The Group’s remedial operati ons were consolidated 
under a single management structure with a view to expanding capability and operati onal effi  ciency. 
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Eastern Treatment Plant

The Company incurred a loss of $1.86 million (aft er tax) on this project in the year in review. This project commenced 
in June 2007 and was one of the works undertaken at the ti me by the now disconti nued Formwork division. The 
company demobilised off site in March 2012 with the agreement of the client. There are a number of unresolved 
issues with this project and the parti es involved conti nue to work towards the fi nalisati on of this contract. Due to the 
nature of the contract and the number of parti es involved the fi nalisati on of this project is not able to be achieved at 
the insti gati on of the company alone.

Safety Training and Quality

During the year considerable eff ort and focus has gone into improving and enhancing our safety and quality systems 
and delivering on our objecti ves set for the FY2012. The ongoing safety and welfare of our employees, contractors and 
suppliers is an obligati on we take seriously and we are committ ed to delivering the highest standards in this regard. All 
onshore companies within the Group are now certi fi ed for AS/NZS 4801 Safety and the majority of group companies 
are also certi fi ed to ISO 9001 Quality. 

Safety committ ees and health & safety representati ves are in place in all divisions within the Group and these 
personnel meet and communicate on a regular basis to ensure conti nued improvement in the Group’s reporti ng and 
system.

During the year the Group implemented a fully integrated ISO compliant soft ware package to assist with the 
management of its safety, quality and environmental requirements. This system supplements the single integrated 
management system the Group moved to during the year. The conti nued development of these systems is a key focus 
for the year ahead.
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Outlook

With the conti nued uncertainty that exists in the internati onal and domesti c economy the ability of the Group to off er 
services to a broad range of clients and market sectors assists our ability to grow revenue and achieve improved results. 
We recognise that the management of risk in these diffi  cult ti mes will be of vital importance to ensuring consistent 
delivery of increased returns to our shareholders. The management of our balance sheet and cashfl ow in these ti mes is of 
parti cular focus. 

The circumstances of the resource sector have come under considerable pressure in recent months. While the full eff ects 
of any signifi cant contracti on are yet to be seen we believe ROCK’s geographical diversity and its exposure to a variety of 
commodity producti on stand it in good stead for the future.

The Group’s constructi on operati ons made considerable progress during FY2012 and we look forward to conti nuing on 
with improvement in the current year.

The Group’s future is underwritt en by its people and I am grateful to have the quality of personnel within the Group that 
we have. The eff ort and dedicati on of our employees has enabled the company to conti nue to improve its performance 
over the last three years and provide increasing returns to our shareholders. I would like to thank the Company’s 
management, staff  and workforce for their eff orts.

David Perry
Managing Director
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Introducti on

The Directors present their report on the consolidated enti ty consisti ng of Structural Systems Limited ABN 57 006 413 574 
(“Structural” or “Company”) and the enti ti es it controlled (“consolidated enti ty” or “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 
2012 and the independent audit report thereon.

Review of operati ons

Please refer to the Managing Director’s Report for discussions regarding the Group’s fi nancial performance.

A summary of the consolidated revenues and results is as follows:

Results for the year
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Revenue from conti nuing operati ons 280,478 237,139

Profi t before income tax from conti nuing operati ons 10,697 11,865

Income tax benefi t / (expense) att ributable to profi t from conti nuing operati ons (2,701) (2,355)

Profi t att ributable to non-controlling interests - -

Profi t att ributable to the members of Structural Systems Limited 7,996 4,472

Signifi cant changes in the state of aff airs

There was no signifi cant change in the state of aff airs on the Group either during or subsequent to the 2012 fi nancial year.

Directors

The following persons were directors of Structural Systems Limited during the fi nancial year and unti l the date of this 
report:

Ian L Fraser 

Robert W Freedman

Peter J McMorrow 

David R Perry 

Company Secretary 

Mr. Stuart J Gray was appointed Company Secretary in April 2009. Mr. Gray is a member of the Insti tute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia and is an affi  liate member of Chartered Secretaries Australia.  Mr Gray holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce.
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Dividends paid or recommended

Dividends paid or declared for payment during the fi nancial year are as follows:

$’000

Ordinary dividend paid on 18 November 2011 as recommended in last year’s report 1,597

Interim ordinary dividend of 2.0 cents per share paid on 18 May 2012 1,278

Final ordinary dividend of 3.0 cents per share recommended by the Director’s to be paid on 19 
October 2012 out of retained profi ts of 30 June 2012

1,903

Principal acti viti es

During the fi nancial year, the principal acti viti es of the consolidated enti ty were drilling, blasti ng and ground control 
services including geotechnical and radar services, engineering, remedial and constructi on contracti ng and manufacture of 
post-tensioning components. 

Matt ers subsequent to the end of the fi nancial year

There have been no signifi cant events subsequent to the end of the fi nancial year.

Future developments, prospects and business strategies

The company will conti nue to pursue its policy of increasing the profi tability and market share of its business sectors 
during the next fi nancial year where an appropriate risk / return metric is achievable.

Further disclosure of informati on regarding likely developments, future prospects and business strategies of the 
operati ons of the company and the expected results of those operati ons have not been included in this report as the 
directors believe, on reasonable grounds, that the inclusion of such informati on would be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the Company. Accordingly, this informati on has not been included in this report.
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Informati on on Directors of Structural Systems Limited

Ian L Fraser  

(Non-executi ve Independent Director)

Director since 2004.  Chairman of the Structural Systems Audit Committ ee and Remunerati on Committ ee.

FCPA, Fellow of the Australian Society of CPAs. FAICD, Fellow of the Australian Insti tute of Company Directors.

During the last three years Ian has also served as a director of the following listed companies:

• Forest Place Group Limited from December 2001 to August 2011

• PMP Limited since April 2003

• Watt yl Limited from June 2009 to September 2010

• Legend Corporati on Limited since January 2008

Interest in Shares: 265,000  Held by The Fraser Superannuati on Fund.

Robert W Freedman  

(Chairman)

Director since 1985, Managing Director 1998 to 2008, Chairman since 2009.  Member of the Insti tuti on of Engineers, 
Australia, Post Graduate Diploma in Business Administrati on (W.A.I.T). 

There are no other listed companies of which Robert has served as a director during the last three years.

Interest in Shares: 1,099,136 Held by Freedman Superannuati on Fund

Peter J McMorrow

(Non-executi ve Director)

Member of the Remunerati on Committ ee.

Holds an Associateship in Highway Engineering, Western Australia Insti tute of Technology.  Peter was Managing Director of 
Leighton Contractors from 2004 unti l September 2010. Under his guidance, Leighton Contractors expanded considerably, 
with its workforce increasing fourfold.

Peter has more than 30 years experience in the constructi on industry parti cularly in the management of dynamic, 
profi table and long lasti ng business operati ons. His experience covers many disciplines of engineering including marine 
works, steel fabricati on, civil, building, petrochemical, mechanical and telecommunicati ons. 

There are no listed companies of which Peter has served as a director of during the last three years.

Interest in Shares: 1,019,887 Held by The McMorrow Superannuati on Fund

David R Perry  

(Managing Director)

Director since 2003, Managing Director since 2009.

Bachelor of Economics

There are no other listed companies of which David has served as a director during the last three years.

Interest in Shares: 300,000  Held by David Perry Superannuati on Fund
   390,000  Held personally

Directors att endance at meeti ngs
Structural Systems Board Audit Committ ee

Held Att ended Held Att ended

I L Fraser 8 8 2 2

R W Freedman 8 8 - -

P J McMorrow 8 7 - -

D R Perry 8 8 - -

The Remunerati on Committ ee was formed on 28 March 2012 and as at 30 June 2012 the Committ ee had not held meeti ngs.
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1. Remunerati on Report

The directors present the remunerati on report for the year ending 30 June 2012. The informati on provided in this 
remunerati on report has been audited as required by secti on 308(3)(C) of the Corporati ons Act 2001.

Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directi ng, and controlling the acti viti es of 
the Company and the Group. Key management personnel comprise the Directors of the Company and members of the 
Executi ve Committ ee of the Company and the Group.

2. Board Policy on Remunerati on

The Board has adopted a policy that remunerati on will:

• Encourage executi ves to improve Structural Systems overall performance and to enhance shareholder value;
• Moti vate executi ves by providing the opportunity to be rewarded for the achievement of fi nancial performance and 

safety outcomes;
• Reward superior performance;

• Ensure remunerati on is competi ti ve by market standards. 

The Board has appointed a Remunerati on Committ ee, comprising Mr Fraser (non-executi ve Director) as Chairman, and 
Mr McMorrow (non-executi ve Director). The Remunerati on Committ ee is charged with determining the remunerati on 
levels for non-executi ve directors (subject to shareholder approval), the Managing Director & members of the Executi ve 
Committ ee.

3. Remunerati on Strategy and Structure 

Structural Systems drives a strong performance based approach to remunerati on and reward for executi ves. The Company 
aims to provide a competi ti ve reward propositi on, targeted at att racti ng, moti vati ng and retaining the most appropriately 
qualifi ed and experienced individuals.

The Company’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remunerati on of Board and senior executi ves of the 
company is as follows: 

• The remunerati on level of the Managing Director att ributable to the 2012 fi nancial year was evaluated and 
approved by the Chairman and the independent Directors. His remunerati on package takes into account factors 
such as experience, qualifi cati on and performance of the Managing Director. These levels will be determined by the 
Remunerati on Committ ee for the 2013 fi nancial year and onwards.

• The remunerati on levels of the members of the Executi ve Committ ee reporti ng to the Managing Director att ributable 
to the 2012 fi nancial year was are submitt ed by the Managing Director to the Board for approval. Remunerati on 
packages are structured such that the Group is able to att ract and retain personnel with the experti se and ability to 
create value for shareholders. 

• Bonuses paid to members of the Executi ve Committ ee are determined based on each manager’s achievements in 
regard to the Company and their department’s profi tability, safety records and receivables management. 

• The remunerati on level of the Chairman and non-executi ve directors is reviewed and approved by the Board on an 
annual basis within the fee pool approved by shareholders. These levels will be determined by the Remunerati on 
Committ ee for the 2013 fi nancial year and onwards. 

Both independent external advice and internal advice may be sought as required to assist the Board in determining 
appropriate remunerati on arrangements for the key management personnel. This includes the remunerati on levels of 
comparable positi ons within other public companies.

The following summarises the mix of reward elements for the non-executi ve directors and senior executi ves:

Elements of remunerati on
Directors Executi ve General 

ManagementNon-Executi ve Managing Director

Fixed remunerati on

Cash salary   

Cash fees   

Superannuati on   

Other benefi ts (1)   

Short term incenti ves Cash   

Long term incenti ves Equity   

Post employment Terminati on payments   
(1) Other benefi ts include motor vehicles lease payments, running costs, allowances and Fringe Benefi ts Tax.
Note: No LTI allocati ons were made under the Executi ve Opti on Plan in fi nancial year 2012. 
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4. Key Management Personnel (KMP)

In additi on to the Non-Executi ve Directors, the following are the members of the Executi ve Committ ee who are included in 
the key management personnel during the fi nancial year and to whom this report applies.

Name Role

D R Perry Managing Director

S Crole Executi ve General Manager Infrastructure

R Coates Executi ve General Manager Mining

M Schweiger Executi ve General Manager Building

S Gray Chief Financial Offi  cer and Company Secretary

5. Executi ve Remunerati on

5.1 Fixed Remunerati on

Fixed remunerati on comprises cash salary and superannuati on contributi ons. Nominated benefi ts may also be salary 
packaged, such as novated car lease payments and superannuati on contributi ons.

The remunerati on of senior executi ves is market based and has regard to remunerati on levels that apply to similar 
positi ons in comparable companies and the performance of the executi ve during the year.

5.2 Short-term incenti ve plan

The Managing Director does not have a specifi c percentage of his remunerati on at risk. His at risk component is directly 
linked to the fi nancial performance of the Company. The bonus payable to the Managing Director is calculated as the 
greater of:

I. 1% of the profi t for the fi nancial year; or

II. 5% of the diff erence between the profi t for the fi nancial year and the profi t for the preceding fi nancial year subject  
 to achieving at least three years of successive profi t growth.

The Board agrees the Managing Director’s targets at the beginning of each fi nancial year, such as Company fi nancial 
performance, OH&S and other business prioriti es, and assesses his performance against those targets at the end of the 
fi nancial year. 

The Managing Director sets the performance targets for the CFO, assesses his performance against these targets and 
recommends any bonus payment to the Board for approval.

The other members of the Executi ve Committ ee, who are members of the key management personnel, parti cipate in a 
short term incenti ve (STI) plan. The measures for the fi nancial year 2012 plan were:

• Company NPAT

• Business Unit NPAT

These measures have been deemed the most important in terms of shareholder value. 

A threshold of the FY2013 Budget NPBT for the executi ves’ Business Units must be achieved before any incenti ve pool 
is established. Where the threshold has been achieved the executi ves receive an incenti ve payment at target of 20% of 
base pay. The maximum payment receivable is 30% of base remunerati on, which requires signifi cant superior fi nancial 
performance.

The Managing Director assesses the performance of senior executi ves at the end of each fi nancial year and submits the 
results of his evaluati on to the Board for approval.

Details of incenti ve payments received are provided in Secti on 9 of this report.

5.3 Long-term incenti ve plan (LTI) 

During fi nancial year 2012 no grants were made under the executi ve share opti on plan and allocati ons made in prior years 
lapsed before the commencement of fi nancial year 2012. Therefore, no key management personnel currently hold any 
opti ons under this plan.
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6. Company performance – the link to reward

The Board’s policy is to align executi ve reward to the performance of the Company. To achieve this, the “at risk” element is 
directly linked to achieving business results. 

6.1 Company Financial Performance

The following table provides details of the fi nancial performance of the company over the past fi ve fi nancial years:

Measure
Financial Year

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Revenue ($’000) 280,478 237,139 253,585 319,210 282,573

Operati ng profi t from conti nuing operati ons 
before tax (‘$000)

10,697 11,865 9,130 9,237 20,708

Profi t aft er tax ($’000) 7,996 4,472 3,270 8,887 15,182

Total dividend per share (cents) 5.0 4.0 2.5 - 11.5

Share price ($) 0.71 0.69 0.48 0.79 2.55

6.2 Short term incenti ve plan
The short-term incenti ve plan is based on achieving Net Profi t Aft er Tax, receivables and safety targets, however, no 
payment is made unless the budget level of NPAT is achieved for the parti cipant’s area of accountability. The budget 
NPAT is determined in the business plan for the fi nancial year. Parti cipants in this plan include members of the Executi ve 
Committ ee (excluding the Managing Director and Chief Financial Offi  cer) and Divisional Managers. 

6.3 Long-term incenti ve plan
There are currently no acti ve long term incenti ve allocati ons under the executi ve share opti on plan.

6.4 Remunerati on mix for senior executi ves
The Managing Director does not have a specifi c percentage of his remunerati on at risk. The methodology to calculate the 
annual incenti ve payment for the Managing Director is described in Secti on 5.2 of this report.

The following table summarizes the mix between fi xed and performance based remunerati on for the members of 
the Executi ve Committ ee, excluding the Managing Director, for fi nancial year 2012 based on achievement of target 
performance.

Name Fixed Remunerati on Short Term Incenti ves Total

S Crole
2012 85% 15% 100%

2011 85% 15% 100%

R Coates
2012 85% 15% 100%

2011 85% 15% 100%

M Schweiger
2012 85% 15% 100%

2011 85% 15% 100%

S Gray
2012 94% 6% 100%

2011 - - -

7. KMP Service Contact Details

Members of the executi ve committ ee receive terminati on payments in accordance with statutory requirements. The 
noti ce periods for the current members of the Executi ve Committ ee are summarised in the below table. There are no 
individual service contracts for the non-executi ve directors.

Name Noti ce period by SSL Noti ce period by Executi ve

D R Perry 6 months (1) (2) 6 months

S Crole 3 months 3 months

R Coates 3 months 3 months

M Schweiger 3 months 3 months

S Gray 1 month 1 month
(1) The Company may terminate the contract aft er 30 June 2012 by giving 6 months noti ce.
(2) The Company may terminate the contract by giving not less than 3 months noti ce due to certain conditi ons relati ng to ill health.



20     Structural Systems Limited Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012

8. Non-executi ve Remunerati on

The non-executi ve directors are remunerated with set fees which are not linked to the performance of the Company. 

The fees payable to non-executi ve directors have been determined by the Board within the aggregate amount approved by 
shareholders. The fee pool of $350,000 was approved by shareholders at the AGM in November 2007. The Company’s non-
executi ve directors receive fees as remunerati on for acti ng as a director. The amount of each non-executi ve director’s fees 
depends on the extent of the director’s responsibiliti es. 

The Board and committ ee fees are set out in the table below. Superannuati on guarantee is paid to the directors in additi on 
to these fees.

9. Details of remunerati on

9.1 Directors’ and Senior Executi ves’ remunerati on

Short term employee 
benefi ts (1) (3) (4)

Post 
employment 

benefi ts

Terminati on 
benefi ts

Share 
based 

payments

Salary Bonus
Other 

Benefi ts 
(2)

Superannuati on
Reti rement 

benefi ts
Opti ons Total Bonus

Directors $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

R W Freedman
Chairman 2012 120,000 - 67,477 10,800 - - 198,277 -

2011 120,022 - 29,603 10,800 - - 160,425 -

I L Fraser
Director 
(Non-executi ve)

2012 60,000 - - 5,400 - - 65,400 -

2011 60,000 - - 5,400 - - 65,400 -

P J McMorrow
Director 
(Non-executi ve)

2012 60,000 - - 5,400 - - 65,400 -

2011 60,000 - - 5,400 - - 65,400 -

D R Perry Managing Director
2012 378,000 143,790 11,607 34,020 - - 567,417 25.3

2011 360,000 49,449 15,860 32,400 - - 457,709 10.8

Total Remunerati on Directors
2012 618,000 143,790 79,084 55,620 - - 896,494

2011 600,022 49,449 45,463 54,000 - - 748,934

Executi ves $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

S Crole
Executi ve General 
Manager Infrastructure

2012 288,750 23,854 21,996 25,988 - - 360,588 6.6

2011 275,000 55,000 21,996 24,750 - - 376,746 14.6

R Coates
Executi ve General 
Manager Mining

2012 288,750 - 21,626 25,988 - - 336,364 -

2011 275,000 55,000 18,169 24,750 - - 372,919 14.7

M Schweiger
Executi ve General 
Manager Building

2012 288,750 - 7,348 25,988 - - 322,086 -

2011 275,000 55,000 8,698 24,750 - - 363,448 15.1

S Gray
Chief Financial Offi  cer 
and Company Secretary

2012 178,000 12,000 17,196 16,020 - - 223,216 5.4

2011 166,396 12,000 14,415 14,976 - - 207,787 5.8

Total Remunerati on Executi ves
2012 1,044,250 35,854 68,166 93,984 - - 1,242,254

2011 991,396 177,000 63,278 89,226 - - 1,320,900

(1) All values are the amounts earned for the relevant reporti ng period
(2) Other benefi ts include, where applicable, motor vehicle lease payments and running costs, allowance and Fringe Benefi ts Tax
(3) The total bonus payment payable to Mr Perry for the 2012 fi nancial year is $287,580.  Mr Perry has agreed with the Remunerati on Committ ee for this 
bonus payment to be paid over two years.
(4) During fi nancial year 2012, M Schweiger was paid a $25,000 bonus due to certain hurdles being achieved in prior years.
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9.2 Shares held by Key Management Personnel

The following table provides details of the shares held by key management personnel:

2012
Balance 

01/07/2011
Received as 

remunerati on

Number of 
ordinary shares 

issued on opti on
Net Change (1) Balance 

30/06/2012

Directors

R W Freedman 1,099,136 - - - 1,099,136

I L Fraser 265,000 - - - 265,000

P J McMorrow 1,019,887 - - - 1,019,887

D R Perry 677,243 - - 12,757 690,000

Executi ves

S Crole 253,635 - - - 253,635

R Coates 197,000 - - - 197,000

M Schweiger 200,000 - - - 200,000

S Gray - - - - -

Total 3,711,901 - - 12,757 3,724,658
(1) Net change represents on-market purchases and disposal of shares

2011
Balance 

01/07/2010
Received as 

remunerati on

Number of 
ordinary shares 

issued on opti on
Net Change (1) Balance 

30/06/2011

Directors

R W Freedman 1,099,136 - - - 1,099,136

I L Fraser 250,000 - - 15,000 265,000

P J McMorrow (2) 660,600 - - 359,287 1,019,887

D R Perry 677,243 - - - 677,243

Executi ves

S Crole 253,635 - - - 253,635

R Coates 197,000 - - - 197,000

M Schweiger 200,000 - - - 200,000

S Gray - - - - -

Total 3,337,614 - - 374,287 3,711,901
(1) Net change represents on-market purchases and disposal of shares
(2) P J McMorrow opening balance refl ects his balance on appointment
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Non-audit services

The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committ ee, is sati sfi ed that the provision of non-
audit services during the year is compati ble with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporati ons Act 2001. The Directors are sati sfi ed that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external 
auditor’s independence for the following reasons:

• all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committ ee prior to commencement to ensure they do 
not adversely aff ect the integrity and objecti vity of the auditor; and

• the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relati ng to auditor independence in 
accordance with APES110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Accounti ng Professional & Ethical 
Standards Board.

The following fees for non-audit services were paid / payable to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June 2012:

$

Taxati on services 27,834

Directors’ and auditor’s indemnifi cati on

Under the Consti tuti on of Structural Systems Limited the Directors, Auditors, Company Secretary and all other Offi  cers 
of the Company when acti ng in those capaciti es are indemnifi ed to the extent permitt ed by law for liability incurred in 
defending any proceeding in which judgement is given in his favour or in which he is acquitt ed or in any applicati on under 
the Corporati ons Law in which relief is granted to him by the Court in respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty or 
breach of trust.

No person has applied for leave of a Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or to intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or 
any part of these proceedings.

During the fi nancial year the Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors and Offi  cers Liability and Legal 
Expenses Insurance contracts, for current Directors and Offi  cers, including Executi ve Offi  cers of the Company and Directors, 
Executi ve Offi  cers and Secretaries of its controlled enti ti es. The insurance premiums relate to:

• costs and expenses incurred by the relevant Offi  cers in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal and whatever 
their outcome; and

• other liabiliti es that may arise from their positi on, with the excepti on of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or 
improper use of informati on or positi on to gain a personal advantage. 

The insurance policies outlined above do not allocate the premiums paid to each individual Offi  cer of the Company.

Environmental Regulati on

The Group’s operati ons are subject to signifi cant environmental regulati on under internati onal, Federal and State 
legislati on. 

The Company has systems in place to manage its environmental obligati ons within its constructi on and mining 
acti viti es. The Directors are not aware of any breaches of environmental regulati ons and any specifi c site environmental 
requirements during the year.

Auditor’s Independence Declarati on

The lead auditor’s independence declarati on for the year ended 30 June 2012 has been received and can be found on page 
23 of the report. 

Rounding of Amounts

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class 
Order, amounts in the fi nancial report and Director’s report have been rounded off  to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise stated.

This report is made in accordance with a Resoluti on of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the 
Directors.

Dated 28 September 2012

R W Freedman     D R PerryD R Perry

Directors.

Dated 288 Septeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeembmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm er

R W Frrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrreedmmmmmmmmmmman
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Principle 1: Lay solid foundati ons for management and oversight

The Board of Directors of Structural Systems Limited (the Company or the Group) is responsible to its shareholders for the 
overall governance and performance of the Group.  Responsibility for the overall management and profi t performance of 
the Group is delegated by the Board to the Managing Director, who is accountable to the Board. The Managing Director 
manages the Company in accordance with the strategy, plans and policies developed by the Managing Director with his 
senior executi ve team and approved by the Board to achieve agreed goals.

Annually, businesses plans which include detailed fi nancial forecasts and performance objecti ves are developed for each 
division of the Group. These business plans are developed in line with the Executi ve Intent Statement set by the Managing 
Director. A consolidated business plan is prepared by the Managing Director and presented to the Board for approval. The 
performance of the Managing Director and senior executi ves is monitored against the business plans throughout the year. 
A performance appraisal of all senior executi ves is undertaken annually with their respecti ve manager.

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value

At balance date the Board comprised of one executi ve director and three non executi ve independent directors. As three 
years have passed since Mr Freedman held an executi ve positi on he now qualifi es as independent.  Independent Directors 
make up the majority of the Board and as a result the current compositi on of the Board complies with recommendati on 
2.1. The board assesses the status of each non executi ve director annually to determine if they remain independent.

As noted above Mr Freedman now qualifi es as an independent director and as a consequence the Chairman is an 
independent director and recommendati on 2.2 is complied with. 

The role of the chairman is independent to the role of the Managing Director and these positi ons are exercised by diff erent 
people.

During the fi nancial year the Board established a nominati ons committ ee. Mr Fraser and Mr McMorrow make up the 
committ ee with Mr Fraser being the chairman. 

The Board undertook a two stage evaluati on process during the year. The fi rst stage was a Board Assessment of its 
inducti on program, educati on of board members, access to informati on, strategy, and board structure. The second stage 
was an Individual Director Self Assessment evaluati ng the value of each director’s contributi ons and competence. The 
evaluati on process was overseen by the Chairman and results were discussed in detail by the board.  

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

The Directors and the senior executi ve team acknowledge the need for and the conti nued maintenance of the highest 
standards of ethical conduct by all employees of the Group. The Group has a Code of Conduct which defi nes the 
professional standards of behaviour required of Directors, management and all employees in the conduct of the Group’s 
aff airs. This statement forms part of a suite of Corporate Policies distributed throughout the Group. The Policy forms part 
of the Employee Inducti on process and contributes to Corporate Values assessed in performance appraisals. The Policy is 
available for review on the Company’s website.

Under this Policy, offi  cers and employees of the Company are expected to:

• Comply with the law;

• Act honestly and with integrity;

• Not place themselves in situati ons which result in divided loyalti es;

• Use the Company’s assets responsibly and in the interests of Structural Systems; and

• Be responsible and accountable for reporti ng and investi gati ng unethical practi ces.

The Company has a Securiti es Trading Policy providing guidance on trading in company securiti es by key management 
personnel. This policy restricts the ti mes and circumstances in which Directors, senior executi ves and certain employees 
may buy or sell shares in the Company. Aft er an announcement that opens a trading window the Company Secretary 
advises key management personnel of the trading window commencement and the date that the trading window will 
close. Directors must advise the Company Secretary , who in turn advises the ASX, of any transacti ons conducted by them 
in the Company’s securiti es within fi ve business days aft er the transacti on occurring. The Company’s policy prohibits 
margin lending arrangements by Directors. The Policy has been released to the ASX and is available on the Company’s 
website.
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The Company has an Equal Employment Opportunity Statement detailing its intenti ons of maintaining a diverse workforce, 
and promoti ng employment equality free from discriminati on. The Company exercises this Statement through equal 
opportunity recruitment and training acti viti es, merit based promoti ons, and family friendly work practi ces including 
parental leave, fl exible hours, additi onal annual leave, and home offi  ces. The Company’s onsite operati ons require skills 
regulated and endorsed by the Australian Qualifi cati ons Framework (AQF). As such, our recruitment and selecti on process 
is founded on ability, competency, and workplace health and safety fi tness for work tests.

The Company conti nues to be compliant with the Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Act 1999. As at the 
ti me of reporti ng, the Company head count totalled 850 people. Women accounted for 51 (6%) of the workforce in the 
Company. Of this, 4 women (8%) hold managerial positi ons. No positi ons on the board are occupied by women.  

On face value, the Gender diversity rati o across the Company is unbalanced. However, 90% of roles required to perform 
the Company’s onsite operati ons – constructi on, mining, manufacturing - are predisposed to male workers. This is not an 
indicati on of the Company’s selecti on process, but a refl ecti on of the suitable applicants available in the market for these 
roles. Women represent 47% of non-operati onal roles across the Company.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in fi nancial reporti ng

The Board has an Audit Committ ee that assists the Board in its oversight of the integrity of fi nancial reporti ng. The 
Audit Committ ee is responsible for the Company’s relati onship with its external auditor and the integrity of the fi nancial 
statements. Ian Fraser, an independent non-executi ve director, is the Chairman of this committ ee. The other member of 
the audit committ ee is Don Mackenzie. Mr. Mackenzie is a Chartered Accountant and an experienced Company Director 
and is independent of the Board. Mr. Mackenzie att ended both of the audit committ ee meeti ngs that were held. The audit 
committ ee being comprised of only two members does not comply with recommendati on 4.2. 

The audit committ ee does have a formal charter and as such complies with recommendati on 4.3.

Principle 5: Make ti mely and balanced disclosure

The Company complies with all relevant disclosure laws and Listi ng Rules in Australia and has policies and procedures 
in place to ensure accountability at a senior management level for that compliance. Communicati ons to the ASX are 
the responsibility of the Company Secretary. Corporate governance processes are conti nuously reviewed to ensure 
compliance with changes to the Corporati ons Act and other legislati on that aff ects Group companies. This ensures that 
the Group is in-line with reporti ng requirements of the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) in keeping the market properly 
informed on the aff airs of the Group. A copy of the Company’s policy regarding market disclosure policy and procedures is 
available on the Company’s website. 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

The Company does have a communicati ons policy for promoti ng eff ecti ve communicati on with its shareholders. This 
policy is available on the Company’s website.

The Company’s policy is to communicate with its shareholders and other interested parti es in a regular, open and ti mely 
manner.

The key mechanisms used by the Company are regular shareholder communicati ons such as the half yearly reports, the 
Annual Report and the Financial Report. 

The Company’s website contains a range of informati on on the Company and its acti viti es. This website is regularly 
reviewed and updated. The website provides informati on on any signifi cant development occurring within the Group. 
Key projects that the Company undertakes are featured on the website. The Company conti nued to do boardroom radio 
interviews during the year. The listening numbers reported for these interviews confi rm that investors and shareholders 
fi nd them a valuable source of informati on about the company. These interviews are a way of providing ti mely informati on 
to shareholders and interested parti es in a format that is easily accessible and understood.

The Company encourages the parti cipati on of shareholders at the AGM. The att endance at the Company’s AGM assists 
shareholders in gaining a greater understanding of the Group’s strategy and goals.

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

The Company is committ ed to the identi fi cati on, monitoring and management of risks associated with its business 
acti viti es and has established the implementati on of practi cal and eff ecti ve control systems. Responsibility for the control 
and risk management is delegated to the appropriate level of management within the Group with the Managing Director 
having ulti mate responsibility to the Board for the risk management and control framework.  Arrangements put in place 
by the Managing Director to monitor risk management include: 
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• Annual budgeti ng and monthly reporti ng systems for all business units, which enable progress against the strategy and 
annual plan to be monitored, trends to be evaluated and variances to be acted upon;

• Tendering and new business procedures and limits of authority;

• Procedures relati ng to capital expenditure, asset and liability management;

• Appropriate due diligence procedures for corporate acquisiti ons and disposals;

• A reportable issues system;

• A compliance program;

• Safety, quality and environment policies;

• Reports by the Chairman of the Audit Committ ee to the Board of the minutes of each meeti ng held by this committ ee;

• A comprehensive Group-wide insurance program.

The senior executi ves of all the operati ng units within the Group and the Board meet annually as a team to review 
the performance of the Group and develop future operati onal strategies. Further, an executi ve committ ee made up of 
representati ves from the senior executi ve personnel of the Company provides additi onal resources in order to ensure 
that the risks associated with its operati onal sites and domesti c and internati onal locati ons are eff ecti vely managed. The 
committ ee focuses on key operati onal issues and the development of strategy for the Company. This executi ve committ ee 
meets monthly.

The Company’s Chairman and Managing Director are each required to report in writi ng to the board that the declarati on 
provided in accordance with secti on 295A of the Corporati ons Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and 
internal control and that the system is operati ng eff ecti vely in all material respects in relati on to fi nancial reporti ng risks.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

During the year the Board established a remunerati on committ ee and as such complies with recommendati on 8.1. The 
remunerati on committ ee is chaired by Mr Fraser and Mr McMorrow is a member.  As the remunerati on committ ee only 
consists of two members it does not comply with one aspect of recommendati on 8.2. However the Board is of the view 
that the current make up of the remunerati on committ ee is sati sfactory to adequately discharge its responsibiliti es and a 
greater number of members would not make the committ ee any more effi  cient.

The Company’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remunerati on for the Managing Director and Executi ve 
General Managers of the Company for 2013 and following years is as follows:

The remunerati on of the Managing Director will be evaluated and approved by the Remunerati on Committ ee on an annual 
basis. The remunerati on package for the Managing Director will account for factors such as experience, qualifi cati on and 
remunerati on levels of comparable positi ons within other public companies. The incenti ve plan for the Managing Director 
will be calculated based on achievement of agreed KPIs for his own performance as well of that of the Company. 

The remunerati on of the Executi ve General Managers is determined by the Managing Director within the guidelines set 
by the Company’s Remunerati on and Benefi ts Policy. Remunerati on packages are then submitt ed to the Remunerati on 
Committ ee for review and approval. The remunerati on packages are structured such that the Group is able to att ract 
and retain personnel with the experti se and ability to create value for shareholders. The remunerati on of executi ves is 
market based and has regard for remunerati on levels that apply to similar positi ons in comparable companies and the 
performance of the executi ve during the year. Short term and long term incenti ve plans for Executi ve General Managers 
are calculated on the fi nancial performance of the divisions they are responsible for as well as the overall profi tability of 
the Group.

The remunerati on level of the Chairman will be evaluated and approved by the Remunerati on Committ ee on an annual 
basis. Independent advice may be sought as required in relati on to the appropriateness of the remunerati on package 
off ered. 

The fees payable to the other directors of the board excluding the managing Director and Chairman are determined by the 
Chairman within the aggregate amount approved by shareholders. The Company’s Non-executi ve Directors receive fees as 
remunerati on for acti ng as a Director and in some cases for being part of a standing committ ee of the board. The amount 
of each Non-executi ve Director’s fee depends on the extent of the Director’s responsibiliti es. The Non-executi ve Directors 
do not receive any performance related remunerati on. 

While ongoing share ownership by employees in the Company is encouraged, no equity based payments were included in 
remunerati on packages during the 2012 year.
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INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP

Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Revenue 2 280,478 237,139

Total revenue 280,478 237,139

Constructi on and servicing costs (245,191) (204,149)

Depreciati on and amorti sati on expense 3(a) (10,931) (9,158)

Finance costs 3(a) (1,551) (1,074)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 12(c) (71) -

Other expenses (12,037) (10,893)

Profi t before income tax expense 10,697 11,865

Income tax benefi t / (expense) 4 (2,701) (2,355)

Profi t for the year from conti nuing operati ons 7,996 9,510

Disconti nued operati on

Loss for the year from disconti nued operati on 22(e) - (5,038)

Profi t for the year att ributable to owners of the parent enti ty 7,996 4,472

Conti nuing and disconti nuing operati ons

Basic earnings per share (cents) 12.5c 7.0c

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 12.5c 7.0c

Dividends paid per share (cents) 7 4.5c 4.0c

Conti nuing operati ons

Basic earnings per share (cents) 12.5c 14.9c

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 12.5c 14.9c

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period used 
in calculati on of earnings per share (‘000)

63,876 63,884

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP

Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Profi t for the year 7,996 4,472

Other comprehensive income

Exchange diff erences arising on translati on of foreign operati ons 215 (1,111)

Gain / (loss) on revaluati on of property (741) -

Deferred tax liability adjustment on revaluati on of property 255 -

Other comprehensive income for the period (net of tax) (271) (1,111)

Total comprehensive income for the period att ributable to owners 
of the parent enti ty

7,725 3,361

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP

Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22(a) 8,241 4,928

Trade and other receivables 9 64,017 54,682

Inventories 10 15,613 10,750

Other 157 130

Total current assets 88,028 70,490

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 37,091 32,814

Intangible assets 13 19,439 20,439

Deferred tax assets 16(b) 4,964 5,295

Other 11 13

Total non-current assets 61,505 58,561

Total assets 149,533 129,051

Current liabiliti es

Trade and other payables 14 40,543 34,598

Financial liabiliti es 15 8,391 8,311

Current tax liability 16(a) 2,918 -

Short term provisions 17 5,593 5,258

Total current liabiliti es 57,445 48,167

Non-current liabiliti es

Trade and other payables 14 5 -

Financial liabiliti es 15 12,183 4,820

Deferred tax liabiliti es 16(a) 2,203 3,007

Long term provisions 17 1,186 1,224

Total non-current liabiliti es 15,577 9,051

Total liabiliti es 73,022 57,218

Net assets 76,511 71,833

Equity

Issued capital 18 40,884 41,056

Reserves 19 2,175 2,446

Retained earnings 33,452 28,331

Total equity 76,511 71,833

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP Note
Share 

Capital 
Ordinary

Retained  
Earnings

Asset 
Revaluati on 

Surplus

Capital 
Profi ts 

Reserve

Foreign 
Currency 

Translati on 
Reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2010 41,056 26,293 3,751 265 (459) 70,906

Profi t att ributable to owners of parent 
enti ty

- 4,472 - - - 4,472

Other comprehensive income:

 - Translati on adjustment on 
controlled foreign enti ti es’ fi nancial 
statements

- - - - (1,111) (1,111)

Total comprehensive income - 4,472 - - (1,111) 3,361

Transacti on with owners as owners:

 - Dividends paid - (2,434) - - - (2,434)

Balance at 30 June 2011 41,056 28,331 3,751 265 (1,570) 71,833

Profi t att ributable to owners of parent 
enti ty

- 7,996 - - - 7,996

Other comprehensive income:

 - Translati on adjustment on 
controlled foreign enti ti es’ fi nancial 
statements

- - - - 215 215

 - Loss on revaluati on of property - - (741) - - (741)

 - Deferred tax liability adjustment on 
revaluati on of property

- - 255 - - 255

Total comprehensive income - 7,996 (486) - 215 7,725

Transacti ons with owners as owners:

 - Shares bought back during the year (172) - - - - (172)

 - Dividends paid - (2,875) - - - (2,875)

 - Transfer of prior year revaluati on 
increment to capital profi ts reserve 
on sale of freehold property

- - (1,430) 1,430 - -

Balance at 30 June 2012 40,884 33,452 1,835 1,695 (1,355) 76,511

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP

Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Cash fl ows from operati ng acti viti es

Cash receipts in the course of operati ons 297,003 268,002

Cash payments in the course of operati ons (280,027) (255,860)

Interest received 128 115

Finance costs (1,551) (1,074)

Income tax refunded - 958

Net cash provided by (used in) operati ng acti viti es 22 (b) 15,553 12,141

Cash fl ows from investi ng acti viti es

Proceeds from sale of disconti nued operati ons - 1,555

Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,573) (3,068)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3,819 240

Payment of deferred considerati on for:

 - Meridian Concrete (Australia) Pty Ltd 22 (d) (1,000) -

Net cash provided by (used in) investi ng acti viti es (1,754) (1,273)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing acti viti es 

Shares bought back and cancelled (172) -

Repayment of borrowings (7,528) (5,888)

Dividends paid by parent enti ty (2,875) (2,434)

Net cash provided by (used in) fi nancing acti viti es (10,575) (8,322)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 3,224 2,546

Eff ect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 89 (554)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of fi nancial year 4,928 2,936

Cash and cash equivalents at end of fi nancial year 22 (a) 8,241 4,928

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.



32     Structural Systems Limited Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note 1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies
The fi nancial statements include the consolidated fi nancial statements and notes of Structural Systems Limited and 
controlled enti ti es (‘Consolidated Group’, or ‘Group’).

The consolidated fi nancial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 September 2012.

Basis of preparati on

The fi nancial statements are general purpose fi nancial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounti ng Standards, Australian Accounti ng Interpretati ons, other authoritati ve pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounti ng Standards Board and the Corporati ons Act (2001).

Australian Accounti ng Standards set out accounti ng policies that the AASB has concluded would result in fi nancial 
statements containing reliable and relevant informati on about transacti ons, events and conditi ons to which they 
apply. Compliance with Australian Accounti ng Standards ensures that the fi nancial statements and notes also comply 
with Internati onal Financial Reporti ng Standards (IFRS) as issued by Internati onal Accounti ng Standards Board (IASB). 
Material Accounti ng policies adopted in the preparati on of the fi nancial statements are presented below. They have been 
consistently applied unless otherwise stated. The Group is a for-profi t enti ty for the purpose of preparing the fi nancial 
statements.

The fi nancial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis, and are based on historical costs, modifi ed, where 
applicable, by the measurement, at fair value of selected non-current assets, fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabiliti es.   

Accounti ng policies

(a) Principles of Consolidati on

 A controlled enti ty is any enti ty Structural Systems Limited has the power to govern the fi nancial and operati ng  
 policies of so as to obtain benefi ts from its acti viti es. In assessing the power to govern, the existence and eff ect of  
 holdings of actual and potenti al voti ng rights are considered. 

 As at the end of the reporti ng period, the assets and liabiliti es of all controlled enti ti es have been incorporated into  
 the consolidated fi nancial statements as well as their results for the year then ended. Where controlled enti ti es have  
 entered (left ) the consolidated group during the year, their operati ng results have been included (excluded) from the  
 date control was gained (ceased).

 All inter-group balances and transacti ons between enti ti es in the consolidated group, including any unrealised profi ts  
 or losses, have been eliminated on consolidati on. Accounti ng policies of subsidiaries have been changed where  
 necessary to ensure consistency with those policies applied by the parent enti ty.

 Non-controlling interests, being that porti on of the profi t or loss and net assets of subsidiaries att ributable to equity  
 interests held by persons outside the group, are shown separately within the equity secti on of the Statement of  
 fi nancial positi on and in the Statement of comprehensive income.

(b) Income Tax

 The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred tax  
 expense (income). 

 Current income tax expense charged to the profi t or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using  
 applicable income tax rates enacted, or substanti ally enacted, as at the end of the reporti ng period. Current tax  
 liabiliti es (assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid (recovered from) the relevant taxati on  
 authority.

 Deferred income tax expense refl ects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the  
 year as well as unused tax losses.

 Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profi t or  
 loss when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.

 Deferred tax assets and liabiliti es are ascertained based on temporary diff erences arising between the tax bases  
 of assets and liabiliti es and their carrying amounts in the fi nancial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where  
 the amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deducti ons are available. No deferred income tax will be  
 recognised from the initi al recogniti on of an asset or liability, excluding a business combinati on, where there is no  
 eff ect on accounti ng or taxable profi t or loss.
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Note 1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
 Deferred tax assets and liabiliti es are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the  
 asset is realised or the liability is sett led, based on tax rates enacted, or substanti ally enacted as at the end of the  
 reporti ng period. Their measurement also refl ects the manner in which the management expects to recover or  
 sett le the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 

 Deferred tax assets relati ng to temporary diff erences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that  
 it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available against which the benefi ts of the deferred tax asset can be  
 uti lised. 

 Where temporary diff erences exist in relati on to investments, subsidiaries, branches, associates and joint ventures,  
 deferred tax assets and liabiliti es are not recognised where the ti ming of the reversal of the temporary diff erence  
 can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.

 Current tax assets and liabiliti es are off set where a legally enforceable right of set-off  exists and it is intended that  
 net sett lement or simultaneous realisati on and sett lement of the respecti ve asset and liability will occur. Deferred  
 tax assets and liabiliti es are off set where a legally enforceable right of set-off  exists, the deferred tax assets and  
 liabiliti es relate to income taxes levied by the same taxati on authority on either the same taxable enti ty or diff erent  
 taxable enti ti es where it is intended that net sett lement or simultaneous realisati on and sett lement of the   
 respecti ve asset and liability will occur in future periods in which signifi cant amounts of deferred tax assets or  
 liabiliti es are expected to be recovered or sett led.

 Tax Consolidati on

 Structural Systems Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated  
 group under tax consolidati on legislati on. Structural Systems Limited is responsible for recognising the current and  
 deferred tax assets and liabiliti es for the tax consolidated group. Current tax liabiliti es (assets) and deferred tax  
 assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in the subsidiaries are immediately transferred to the   
 head enti ty. The tax consolidated group has not entered a tax sharing agreement whereby each company in the  
 group contributes to the income tax payable in proporti on to their contributi on to the net profi t before tax of the tax  
 consolidated group.

(c) Inventories

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Cost includes direct materials, direct labour, other direct variable costs and allocated producti on overheads   
 necessary to bring inventories to their present locati on and conditi on, based on normal operati ng capacity of the  
 producti on faciliti es.

 Manufacturing acti viti es

 The cost of manufacturing inventories and work-in-progress are assigned on a weighted average basis. Costs arising  
 from excepti onal wastage are expensed as incurred.

(d) Constructi on Contracts and Work in Progress

 Constructi on work in progress is valued at cost, plus profi t recognised to date less any provision for anti cipated  
 future losses. Cost includes both variable and fi xed costs relati ng to specifi c contracts, and those costs that are  
 att ributable to the contract acti vity in general and that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

 Constructi on profi ts are recognised on the stage of completi on basis and measured using the proporti on of costs  
 incurred to date as compared to expected actual costs. Where losses are anti cipated they are provided for in full.

 Constructi on revenue has been recognised on the basis of the terms of the contract adjusted for any variati ons or  
 claims allowable under the contract.

 For disclosure purposes, constructi on contracts and work in progress are included in inventories.

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment

 Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated  
 depreciati on and impairment losses.
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Note 1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies (continued) 

 Property

 Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be exchanged  
 between knowledgeable willing parti es in an arm’s length transacti on), based on periodic valuati ons by external  
 independent valuers, less subsequent depreciati on for buildings.

 Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluati on of land and buildings are credited to a revaluati on surplus  
 in equity. Decreases that off set previous increases of the same asset are charged against fair value reserves directly  
 in equity; all other decreases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income. Each year the diff erence  
 between depreciati on based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to the statement of   
 comprehensive income and depreciati on based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from the revaluati on  
 surplus to retained earnings.

 Any accumulated depreciati on at the date of revaluati on is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset  
 and the net amount is restated to the re-valued amount of the asset.

 Plant and equipment

 Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less accumulated depreciati on and impairment losses.

 The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the  
 recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash  
 fl ows that will be received from the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash fl ows have  
 been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

 The cost of fi xed assets constructed or internally generated within the consolidated group includes the cost of  
 materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proporti on of fi xed and variable overheads.

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,  
 only when it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the group and   
 the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of  
 comprehensive income during the fi nancial period in which they are incurred.

 Depreciati on

 The depreciable amount of all fi xed assets including building and capitalised lease assets, but excluding freehold  
 land, is depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful lives to the consolidated group commencing from the  
 ti me the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the   
 unexpired period of the lease or the esti mated useful lives of the improvements.  

 The depreciati on rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

 Class of fi xed asset   Depreciati on rate

 Buildings    2.5%

 Leasehold improvements  28.0%

 Plant and equipment  10.0% - 33.3%

 Financed assets   

 - Plant and equipment  15.0% - 25.0%

 - Mining equipment   25.0%

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporti ng  
 period.

 An asset’s carrying amount is writt en down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is  
 greater that it’s esti mated recoverable amount.
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Note 1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and  
 losses are included in the income statement. When re-valued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluati on  
 reserve relati ng to that asset are transferred to the capital profi ts reserve.

(f) Leases

 Leases of fi xed assets, where substanti ally all the risks and benefi ts incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not  
 the legal ownership that are transferred to enti ti es in the consolidated group are classifi ed as fi nance leases.

 Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value  
 of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual  
 values. Lease payments are allocated between the reducti on of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for  
 the period.

 Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their esti mated useful lives or over the  
 term of the lease. Lease payments for operati ng leases, where substanti ally all the risks and benefi ts remain with  
 the lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

(g) Financial Instruments

 Initi al Recogniti on and Movement

 Financial assets and fi nancial liabiliti es are recognised when the enti ty becomes a party to the contractual provisions  
 to the instrument. For fi nancial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the company commits itself to either the  
 purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounti ng is adopted). 

 Financial instruments are initi ally measured at fair value plus transacti on costs, except where the instrument   
 is classifi ed ‘at fair value through profi t or loss’, in which case the transacti on costs are expensed to profi t or loss  
 immediately.

 Classifi cati on and subsequent Measurement

 Financial instruments are subsequently measured at amorti sed cost using the eff ecti ve interest rate method. 

 Amorti sed cost is calculated as:

 The amount at which the fi nancial asset or fi nancial liability is measured at initi al recogniti on;

• less principal repayments

• plus or minus the cumulati ve amorti sati on of the diff erence, if any, between the amount initi ally recognised and 
the maturity amount calculated using the eff ecti ve interest rate method

• less any reducti on for impairment

 The eff ecti ve interest rate method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant   
 period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts esti mated future cash payments or receipts (including  
 fees, transacti on costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be   
 reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the fi nancial instrument to the net carrying amount of the fi nancial asset  
 or fi nancial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash fl ows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value  
 with a consequenti al recogniti on of an income or expense in profi t or loss.

 Impairment

 At the end of each reporti ng period, the group assesses whether there is objecti ve evidence that a fi nancial   
 instrument has been impaired.  Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

 Derecogniti on

 Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash fl ows expires or the asset   
 is transferred to another party whereby the enti ty no longer has any signifi cant conti nuing involvement in the  
 risks and benefi ts associated with the asset. Financial liabiliti es are derecognised where the related obligati ons  
 are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The diff erence between the carrying value of the fi nancial liability   
 exti nguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of considerati on paid, including the transfer of non- 
 cash assets or liabiliti es assumed, is recognised in profi t or loss.
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Note 1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Impairment of Assets

 At the end of each reporti ng period, the group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets  
 to determine whether there is any indicati on that those assets have been impaired. If such an indicati on exists, the  
 recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is  
 compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is  
 expensed to the income statement.

 Impairment testi ng is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefi nite lives, or more frequently  
 if facts or circumstances indicate a possible impairment.

 Where it is not possible to esti mate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group esti mates the   
 recoverable amount of the cash-generati ng unit to which the asset belongs.

(i) Investment in Associates

 Investments in associate companies are recognised in the fi nancial statements by applying the equity method of  
 accounti ng. The equity method of accounti ng recognises the group’s share of post acquisiti on reserves of its   
 associates.

(j) Interests in Joint Ventures

 The consolidated group’s interests in joint venture enti ti es are brought to account using the equity method of  
 accounti ng in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

(k) Goodwill

 Goodwill and goodwill on consolidati on are initi ally recorded at the amount by which the purchase price for a  
 business combinati on exceeds the fair value att ributed to the interest in the net fair value of identi fi able assets,  
 liabiliti es and conti ngent liabiliti es at the date of acquisiti on. Goodwill on acquisiti on of subsidiaries is included in  
 intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisiti on of associates is included in investment in associates. Goodwill is tested  
 annually for impairment or more frequently if the facts or circumstances indicate a potenti al impairment and carried  
 at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an enti ty include the carrying  
 amount of goodwill relati ng to the enti ty sold.

(l) Foreign Currency Transacti ons and Balance

 Functi onal and presentati on currency

 The functi onal currency of each of the group’s enti ti es is measured using the currency of the primary economic  
 environment in which that enti ty operates. The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in Australian dollars  
 which is the parent enti ty’s functi onal and presentati on currency.

 Transacti on and balances

 Foreign currency transacti ons are translated into functi onal currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date  
 of the transacti on. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary  
 items measured at historical cost conti nue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transacti on. Non- 
 monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were   
 determined.

 Exchange diff erences arising on the translati on of monetary items are recognised in the statement of comprehensive  
 income, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash fl ow or net investment hedge.

 Exchange diff erences arising on the translati on of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the extent  
 that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange diff erence is recognised in the statement  
 of comprehensive income.

 Group companies

 The fi nancial results and positi on of foreign operati ons whose functi onal currency is diff erent from the group’s  
 presentati on currency are translated as follows:

• Assets and liabiliti es are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporti ng period,

• Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period, and

• Retained profi ts are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transacti on.
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Note 1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
 Exchange diff erences arising on translati on of foreign operati ons are transferred directly to the group’s foreign  
 currency translati on reserve in the statement of fi nancial positi on. These diff erences are recognised in the income  
 statement, in the period in which the operati on is disposed.

(m) Employee Benefi ts

 Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefi ts arising from services rendered by employees up  
 to the end of the reporti ng period. Employee benefi ts that are expected to be sett led within one year have been  
 measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is sett led. Employee benefi ts payable later than  
 one year have been measured at the present value of the esti mated future cash outf lows to be made for those  
 benefi ts. Those cash fl ows are discounted using market yields on nati onal government bonds with terms to maturity  
 that match the expected ti ming of cash fl ows.

 Equity-sett led compensati on

 The group operates an equity-sett led share-based payment employee share and opti on schemes. The fair value of  
 the equity to which the employees become enti tled is measured at grant date and recognised as an expense over  
 the vesti ng period, with a corresponding increase to an equity account. The fair value of shares is ascertained as  
 the market-price bid. The fair value of opti ons is ascertained using a Black-Scholes pricing model which incorporates  
 all market vesti ng conditi ons. The number of shares and opti ons expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the  
 end of each reporti ng period such that the amount recognised for services received as considerati on for the equity  
 instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.

(n) Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructi ve obligati on, as a result of past events, for which  
 it is probable that an outf low of economic benefi ts will result and that outf low can be reliably measured.

(o) Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid  
 investments with original maturiti es of three months or less, and bank overdraft s. Bank overdraft s are shown within  
 short-term borrowings in current liabiliti es on the statement of fi nancial positi on.

(p) Revenue and Other Income

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the considerati on received or receivable aft er taking into account any trade  
 discounts and volume rebates allowed. Any considerati on deferred is treated as the provision of fi nance and is  
 discounted at a rate of interest that is generally accepted in the market for similar arrangements. The diff erence  
 between the amount initi ally recognised and the amount ulti mately received is interest revenue.

 Revenue relati ng to constructi on acti viti es is further detailed in Note 1 (d).

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer of   
 signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and the cessati on of all ownership of those goods.

 Interest revenue is recognised using the eff ecti ve interest rate method, which for fl oati ng rate fi nancial assets, is  
 the rate inherent in the instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been  
 established.

 Dividends received from associates and joint venture enti ti es are accounted for in accordance with the equity  
 method of accounti ng.

 Revenue recogniti on relati ng to the provision of services is determined with reference to the stage of completi on  
 of the transacti on at the end of the reporti ng period and where the outcome of the contract can be established  
 reliably. Stage of completi on is determined with reference to the services performed to date as a percentage of total  
 anti cipated services to be performed. Where the outcome cannot be esti mated reliably, revenue is recognised only  
 to the extent that related expenditure is recoverable.

 Investment property revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the lease term, so as to refl ect  
 a constant periodic rate of return on net investment.

(q) Borrowing Costs

 Borrowing costs directly att ributable to the acquisiti on, constructi on or producti on of assets that necessarily take a  
 substanti al period of ti me to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, unti l such  
 ti me as the assets are substanti ally ready for their intended use or sale.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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Note 1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
(r) Goods and Service Tax (GST)

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred  
 is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Offi  ce. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost  
 of acquisiti on of the asset, or as an expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of fi nancial positi on are  
 shown inclusive of GST.

 Cash fl ows are presented in the statement of cash fl ows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investi ng  
 and fi nancing acti viti es, which are disclosed as operati ng cash fl ows.

(s) Comparati ve Figures

 When required by Accounti ng Standards, comparati ve fi gures have been adjusted to conform to changes in   
 presentati on for the current fi nancial year.

(t) Rounding of Amounts

 The parent enti ty has applied the relief available to it under ASIC Class Order 98/100 and accordingly, amounts in  
 the fi nancial report and directors’ report have been rounded off  to the nearest $1,000.

(u) Criti cal accounti ng esti mates and judgments

 The Directors evaluate esti mates and judgments incorporated into the fi nancial statements based on historical  
 knowledge and best available current informati on. Esti mates assume a reasonable expectati on of future events and  
 are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and with the consolidated group. The  
 following key esti mates and judgments were relevant to the Group for the fi nancial year:

• Assessment of future loss provisions in constructi on contracts

 As at 30 June 2012 the Directors reviewed all outstanding constructi on contracts and determined that a future loss  
 provision of $12,975,692 (2011: $2,577,444) was necessary to provide for loss-making contracts. For further details  
 refer to Note 10.

• Assessment of impairment of non-current assets

 As at 30 June 2012 the Directors reviewed the carrying amount of non-current assets apporti oned to the   
 Constructi on and Mining cash generati ng units and determined that no impairment charge was applicable to the  
 carrying value of assets in either cash generati ng unit (2011: nil). For further details of the impairment assessment  
 refer to Note 13.

• Assessment of the impairment of receivables

 As at 30 June 2012 the Directors reviewed the carrying amount of trade receivables and esti mated that $302,696 of  
 the carrying amount was not collecti ble (2011: $417,000). For further detail refer to Note 9.

(v) Preparati on of fi nancial statements in relati on to the consolidated enti ty

 On 28 June 2010, the Corporati ons Act 2001 was amended to no longer require the preparati on of parent   
 enti ty accounts for the purpose of streamlining parent enti ty reporti ng. Where the enti ty is required to prepare  
 fi nancial statements in relati on to the consolidated enti ty, the Corporati ons Regulati ons 2001 (the Principal   
 Regulati ons) specify supplementary informati on about the parent enti ty that is to be included in a note to the  
 consolidated fi nancial statements. This informati on is disclosed in Note 11.

(w) New Accounti ng Standards for Applicati on in Future Periods

 Certain new accounti ng standards and interpretati ons have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2012  
 reporti ng periods. The group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretati ons is set out below. 

• AASB 9: Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards arising from 
AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2012-
6. (Applicati on date of Standard: 1 January 2015; Applicati on date for the group: 1 July 2015)

 These standards apply retrospecti vely and address the classifi cati on, measurement and derecogniti on of   
 fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabiliti es. There will be no impact on the group’s accounti ng for fi nancial liabiliti es,  
 as the new requirements only aff ect the accounti ng for fi nancial liabiliti es that are designated at fair value  
 through profi t or loss and the group does not have any such liabiliti es.
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Note 1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
• AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11: Joint Arrangements, AASB 12: Disclosure of Interests 

in Other Enti ti es, AASB 127 (revised): Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128: Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures, and AASB 2011-7: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards arising from the 
Consolidati on and Joint Arrangements Standards (Applicati on date of Standard: 1 January 2013; Applicati on 
date for the group: 1 July 2013)

 AASB 10 provides a revised defi niti on of control and additi onal applicati on guidance so that a single control  
 model will apply to all investees. The group has not yet been able to reasonably esti mate the impact of this  
 standard on its fi nancial statements.  

 AASB 11 which replaces AASB 131 addresses the classifi cati on of joint arrangements and requires the   
 adopti on of the equity method of accounti ng for joint ventures.  As it is the group’s policy to apply the equity  
 method of accounti ng in joint ventures, AASB 11 will not have any impact on the amounts recognised in its  
 fi nancial statements.

 AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to enti ti es that hold an interest in a subsidiary,   
 joint venture, joint operati on or associate. This standard will aff ect disclosures only and is not expected to  
 signifi cantly impact the Group.

• AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards arising 
from AASB 13 (Applicati on date of Standard: 1 January 2013; Applicati on date for the group: 1 July 2013)

 This standard explains how to measure fair value and aims to enhance fair value disclosures. The group   
 has yet to determine which, if any, of its current measurement techniques will have to change as a result of  
 the new guidance.  

• AASB 2011-4: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards to Remove Individual Key Management 
Personnel Disclosure Requirements (Applicati on date of Standard: 1 January 2013; Applicati on date for the 
group: 1 July 2013)

 This amendment removes individual key management personnel disclosure requirements from AASB 124  
 to eliminate replicati on with the Corporati ons Act 2001. The KMP disclosures will be reduced as a result of  
 these amendments but there will be no impact on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements. 

• AASB 2011-9: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards – Presentati on of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income (Applicati on date of Standard: 1 July 2012; Applicati on date for the group: 1 July 2012)

 The amendments aff ect the presentati on of items of other comprehensive income. Accordingly, only the   
 presentati on and disclosure of related items in the fi nancial report are expected to be impacted.

 There are no other standards that are not yet eff ecti ve and that are expected to have a material impact on the enti ty  
 in the current or future reporti ng periods and on foreseeable future transacti ons.
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Note 2. Revenue

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Operati ng acti viti es

Rendering of services 271,902 229,539

Sale of goods 7,270 6,840

Interest 128 115

Other revenue 885 488

280,185 236,982

Non-operati ng acti viti es

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 293 157

Total revenue 280,478 237,139

Note 3. Profi t for the year

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Profi t before income tax is arrived at aft er charging (crediti ng) the following items:

Amorti sati on and depreciati on of:

 - Buildings 59 83

 - Plant and equipment 10,843 9,071

 - Leasehold improvements 29 4

10,931 9,158

Bad and doubtf ul debts expense including movements in provision for doubtf ul debts (114) 466

Interest paid and due and payable:

 - Other persons 70 221

 - Finance charges on assets under hire purchases 1,481 853

1,551 1,074

Rental - operati ng leases 1,588 1,424

Employee benefi ts expense 74,516 61,641

Defi ned contributi on superannuati on expense 6,357 5,454
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Note 4. Income tax expense

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

The components of income tax expense are as follows:

Current tax expense 3,090 3,281

Deferred tax (benefi t) / expense (389) (813)

Under / (over) provision in respect to prior years - (113)

2,701 2,355

The prima facie tax on profi t before income tax from conti nuing operati ons is reconciled 
to the income tax expense / (benefi t) provided in the accounts as follows:

Prima facie tax payable on operati ng profi t at 30% (2011 - 30%)

 - Consolidated group 3,209 3,559

Add (deduct) tax eff ect of:

 - Increase (decrease) in income tax expense due to non tax deducti ble 
(non-tax assessable) items

14 29

 - Non assessable profi t on overseas enti ti es (80) (12)

Amount under (over) provided prior year - (113)

R&D rebates - (1,108)

Tax losses on capital losses recognised in the current fi nancial year (442) -

Income tax expense (benefi t) att ributable to enti ty 2,701 2,355

Deferred tax assets not brought to account, the benefi ts of which will only be realised if 
the conditi ons for deducti bility set out in note 1(b) occur:

Capital losses - 442
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Note 5. Key Management Personnel Compensation
(a) Names, positi ons held and remunerati on of economic and parent enti ty key management personnel in offi  ce at  
 any ti me during the fi nancial year are:

Short term employee benefi ts (1) (3) (4)

Post 
employment 

benefi ts

Salary Bonus Other Benefi ts (2) Superannuati on Total

Directors $ $ $ $ $

D R Perry Managing Director
2012 378,000 143,790 11,607 34,020 567,417

2011 360,000 49,449 15,860 32,400 457,709

I L Fraser
Director 
(Non-executi ve)

2012 60,000 - - 5,400 65,400

2011 60,000 - - 5,400 65,400

R W Freedman Chairman
2012 120,000 - 67,477 10,800 198,277

2011 120,022 - 29,603 10,800 160,425

P J McMorrow
Director (Non-executi ve 
comm. 01/07/11)

2012 60,000 - - 5,400 65,400

2011 60,000 - - 5,400 65,400

Total Remunerati on Directors
2012 618,000 143,790 79,084 55,620 896,494

2011 600,022 49,449 45,463 54,000 748,934

Executi ves $ $ $ $ $

R Coates
Executi ve General 
Manager Mining

2012 288,750 - 21,626 25,988 336,364

2011 275,000 55,000 18,169 24,750 372,919

M Schweiger
Executi ve General 
Manager Building

2012 288,750 - 7,348 25,988 322,086

2011 275,000 55,000 8,698 24,750 363,448

S Crole
Executi ve General 
Manager Infrastructure

2012 288,750 23,854 21,996 25,988 360,588

2011 275,000 55,000 21,996 24,750 376,746

S Gray
Chief Financial Offi  cer 
and Company Secretary

2012 178,000 12,000 17,196 16,020 223,216

2011 166,396 12,000 14,415 14,976 207,787

Total Remunerati on Executi ves
2012 1,044,250 35,854 68,166 93,984 1,242,254

2011 991,396 177,000 63,278 89,226 1,320,900

Total Remunerati on KMP
2012 1,662,250 179,644 147,250 149,604 2,138,748

2011 1,591,418 226,449 108,741 143,226 2,069,834

(1) All values are the amounts earned for the relevant reporti ng period
(2) Other benefi ts include, where applicable, motor vehicle lease payments and running costs, allowance and Fringe Benefi ts Tax
(3) The total bonus payment payable to Mr Perry for the 2012 fi nancial year is $287,580.  Mr Perry has agreed with the Remunerati on Committ ee for this 
bonus payment to be paid over two years.
(4) During FY2012, M Schweiger was paid a $25,000 bonus due to certain hurdles being achieved in prior periods.
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Note 5. Key Management Personnel Compensation (continued)
(b) Shareholdings

Number of shares held by key management personnel

2012
Balance 

01/07/2011
Received as 

remunerati on

Number of 
ordinary shares 

issued on opti ons 
exercised

Net change 
other (1)

Balance 
30/06/2012

Directors

R W Freedman 1,099,136 - - - 1,099,136

I L Fraser 265,000 - - - 265,000

P J McMorrow 1,019,887 - - - 1,019,887

D R Perry 677,243 - - 12,757 690,000

Executi ves

S Crole 253,635 - - - 253,635

R Coates 197,000 - - - 197,000

M Schweiger 200,000 - - - 200,000

S Gray - - - - -

Total 3,711,901 - - 12,757 3,724,658
(1) Net change represents on-market purchases and disposal of shares

2011
Balance 

01/07/2010
Received as 

remunerati on

Number of 
ordinary shares 

issued on opti on

Net change 
other (1)

Balance 
30/06/2011

Directors

R W Freedman 1,099,136 - - - 1,099,136

I L Fraser 250,000 - - 15,000 265,000

P J McMorrow (2) 660,600 - - 359,287 1,019,887

D R Perry 677,243 - - - 677,243

Executi ves

S Crole 253,635 - - - 253,635

R Coates 197,000 - - - 197,000

M Schweiger 200,000 - - - 200,000

S Gray (3) - - - - -

Total 3,337,614 - - 374,287 3,711,901
(1) Net change represents on-market purchases and disposals of shares
(2) P J McMorrow opening balance refl ects his balance on appointment
(3) Commenced 01/11/2010
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Note 5. Key Management Personnel Compensation (continued)
(c) Remunerati on practi ces

 The Company’s policy for determining the nature and amount of emoluments of board members and senior   
 executi ves of the company is as follows:

 The fees payable to non-executi ve Directors are determined by the Board within the aggregate amount approved  
 by shareholders. Shareholder approval was given at the 2007 Annual General Meeti ng, for the maximum aggregate  
 remunerati on of $350,000 per year. 

 The remunerati on levels of the executi ve directors are evaluated and approved by the Chairman and the   
 independent directors. The remunerati on packages for the executi ve directors take into account factors such as  
 experience, qualifi cati on and performance of the director and the fi nancial and safety performance of the Group.  
 The remunerati on packages also take into account remunerati on levels of comparable positi ons within other public  
 companies.

 The remunerati on levels of the senior executi ves are evaluated and approved by the Managing Director and   
 Chairman. Remunerati on packages are structured such that the Group is able to att ract and retain talented   
 personnel. The remunerati on of executi ves is market based and has regard to remunerati on levels that apply to  
 similar positi ons in comparable companies and the performance of the executi ve during the year.

 The Board believes that it is important for the senior executi ves to have ongoing share ownership in the Company.

Note 6. Auditor’s Remuneration

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS GROUP

2012
$

2011
$

Remunerati on of the auditor of the parent enti ty - William Buck

Auditi ng and reviewing the fi nancial report 280,528 214,800

Taxati on services 27,834 73,848

Auditi ng the fi nancial reports of controlled enti ti es 36,888 34,250

Remunerati on of other auditors of subsidiaries for:

Auditi ng or reviewing the fi nancial report of subsidiaries 9,755 8,750
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Note 7. Dividends

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Dividends paid

The amounts paid, provided or recommended by way of dividend by the parent enti ty are:

 - Final fully franked ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 2.5 cents 
(2010: 2.5 cents) per share paid on 18 Nov 2011 franked at the tax rate of 30%

1,597 1,597

 - Interim fully franked ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2012 of 2.0 cents 
(2011: 1.5 cents) per share paid on 18 May 2012 franked at a tax rate of 30%

1,278 958

Dividends declared aft er 30 June 2012

(a) The directors have resolved to declare a fi nal fully franked ordinary dividend of 3.0 cents
      (2011: 2.5 cents) per share payable on 19 October 2012, franked at the tax rate of 30%
      (2011: 30%) based on 63,444,474 ordinary shares at 21 September 2012

1,903 1,597

1,903 1,597

Franking account balance

(b) Balance of franking account at year end adjusted for franking credits arising from 
      payment of provision for income tax, dividends recognised as receivables and franking
      debits arising from payment of proposed dividends and franking credits that may be 
      prevented from distributi on in subsequent fi nancial years.

5,699 6,469

Subsequent to year end, the franking account would be reduced by the proposed dividend 
as follows:

(816) (684)

4,883 5,785

Note 8. Earnings per share

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Reconciliati ons of earnings to profi t

      Profi t for the year from conti nuing operati ons 7,996 9,510

      Loss for the year from disconti nued operati ons - (5,038)

      Profi t for the year 7,996 4,472

      Earnings used in the calculati on of earnings per share 7,996 4,472

      Earnings used in the calculati on of diluti ve earnings per share 7,996 4,472

Number Number

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the calculati on of basic 
      earnings per share

63,875,626 63,884,474

      Weighted average number of opti ons / converti ble notes outstanding - -

      Weighted average number of potenti al ordinary shares used in the calculati on of diluted
      earnings per share

63,875,626 63,884,474
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Note 9. Trade and other receivables (current)

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Trade receivables 63,119 53,898

Provision for impairment of receivables (303) (417)

62,816 53,481

Formwork sale receivable 165 165

Other debtors and deposits 1,036 1,036

64,017 54,682

Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables

60-90 days 1,335 2,958

90+ days 9,534 8,577

10,869 11,535

Movement in the provision for the impairment of receivables is as follows:

Opening balance (417) (428)

Amounts writt en off  or assessed as recoverable 114 11

Closing balance (303) (417)

Impaired receivables are all greater than 120 days

Note 10. Inventories

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Raw materials and stores at cost 5,646 4,277

Finished goods 398 119

Work in progress - materials on site 3,784 950

Constructi on work in progress 5,785 5,404

15,613 10,750

Constructi on work in progress comprises:

Contract costs incurred 211,347 145,037

Profi t recognised 31,597 29,471

242,944 174,508

Less:

Provisions for losses (12,976) (2,577)

229,968 171,931

Less:

Progress billings and advances received and receivable on constructi on contracts in 
progress

(239,771) (173,965)

Net constructi on work in progress (9,803) (2,034)

Net constructi on work in progress comprises:

Amounts due from customers - inventories 5,785 5,404

Contract billings in advance - payables (note 14) (15,589) (7,438)

(9,803) (2,034)

Retenti ons on constructi on contracts in progress 4,675 4,614
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Note 11. Supplementary information about the parent entity

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Assets

Current assets 53,652 43,781

Total assets 161,099 140,158

Liabiliti es 

Current liabiliti es 26,688 28,511

Total liabiliti es 133,268 105,124

Equity

Issued capital 40,093 40,265

Total equity 27,831 35,034

Profi t and loss and total comprehensive income (4,155) 307

There were no conti ngent liabiliti es, guarantees or capital commitments of the parent enti ty not otherwise disclosed in these fi nancial statements 
(refer Note 21).
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Note 12. Property, plant and equipment

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Freehold land

At independent valuati on 2008 (a) (b) - 6,874

At independent valuati on 2011 (b) (c) 4,484 -

4,484 6,874

Buildings

At independent valuati on 2008 (a) (b) 846 1,685

At cost - subsequent additi ons - 518

Accumulated amorti sati on (59) (242)

787 1,961

Leasehold improvements

At costs 80 80

Accumulated amorti sati on (80) (80)

- -

Plant, equipment and motor vehicles

At cost 83,251 65,756

Accumulated depreciati on (51,431) (41,777)

31,820 23,979

Total 37,091 32,814

(a) The independent valuati on of the consolidated enti ty’s freehold land and building was carried out as at 30   
 September 2008.  This assessment was based on “open market values for existi ng use” and resulted in a valuati on of  
 land and buildings of $6,873,892.  The valuati on of freehold land and buildings represents the current market value  
 in the Directors’ opinion.

(b) The revaluati on surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was credited to an asset revaluati on surplus in  
 shareholders’ equity.

(c) An independent valuati on of the consolidated enti ty’s freehold land and building was carried out between December  
 2011 and June 2012. This assessment was based on open market values for existi ng use and resulted in a valuati on  
 of land and buildings of $4,483,958. Valuati on on one of the consolidated enti ty’s pieces of land resulted in an  
 impairment loss of $70,486. This loss has been recognised directly in the income statement.  The consolidated  
 enti ty’s freehold land and building had original cost of $3,803,145.
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Note 12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Movements in carrying amounts

Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set 
out below:

Freehold land

Carrying amount at beginning of year 6,874 6,874

Revaluati on decrements (741) -

Impairment on revaluati on (70) -

Additi ons - -

Disposals (1,579) -

Carrying amount at end of year 4,484 6,874

Buildings

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,962 1,616

Additi ons - 429

Disposals (1,116) -

Depreciati on (59) (83)

Carrying amount at end of year 787 1,962

Leasehold improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of year - 4

Additi on - -

Disposals - -

Amorti sati on - (4)

Carrying amount at end of year - -

Plant and equipment and motor vehicles

Carrying amount at beginning of year 23,978 20,083

Additi ons 19,586 13,114

Disposals (883) (83)

Movements due to foreign exchange rate diff erences 11 (65)

Depreciati on and amorti sati on (10,872) (9,071)

Carrying amount at end of year 31,820 23,978

Total

Carrying amount at beginning of year 32,814 28,577

Additi ons 19,586 13,543

Disposals (3,578) (83)

Revaluati on decrements (741) -

Impairment on revaluati on (70) -

Depreciati on and amorti sati on (10,931) (9,158)

Movements due to foreign exchange rate diff erences 11 (65)

Carrying amount at end of year 37,091 32,814
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Note 13. Intangibles

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Goodwill - at cost 19,447 20,447

Accumulated impairment losses (8) (8)

19,439 20,439

Movements during the year:

Balance at beginning of year 20,439 20,439

Additi ons - -

Change in amount due under contract of sale (a) (1,000) -

19,439 20,439

Impairment disclosures

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generati ng units which are based on the Group’s reporti ng 
segments

Constructi on segment 18,261 19,261

Mining segment 1,178 1,178

Total 19,439 20,439

(a) Goodwill was reduced by $1,000,000 due to a reducti on in the earn-out payment as considerati on for the acquisiti on  
 of Meridian Concrete; this treatment is consistent with AASB3 requirements prior to 1 July 2009.

Growth
rate

Discount 
rate

Cash generati ng unit

Constructi on segment
2012 2.8% 14.97%

2011 2.5% 17.25%

Mining segment
2012 2.0% 11.37%

2011 5.0% 17.25%

 The recoverable amount of each cash-generati ng unit above is determined based on value-in-use calculati ons.

 Value-in-use is calculated based on the present value of cash fl ow projecti ons over a 5 year period with the above  
 growth and discount rates.

 Management has based the value-in-use calculati ons on forecasts for each cash generati ng unit that incorporate  
 cash fl ow projecti ons over a 5 year period with the above growth and discount rates. These forecasts use historical  
 weighted average growth rati os to project revenue. Costs are calculated taking into account historical gross margins  
 as well as esti mated weighted average infl ati on rates which are consistent with infl ati on rates applicable to the  
 locati ons in which the segments operate. Discount rates are pre-tax and are adjusted to incorporate risks associated  
 with a parti cular cash generati ng unit.
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Note 14. Trade and other payables

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current

Unsecured liabiliti es

Trade payables 14,052 16,621

Sundry payables and accrued expenses 10,902 8,539

Contract billings in advance (see note 10) 15,589 7,438

Amount due under contract of sale (see note 13(a)) - 2,000

40,543 34,598

Non-current

Unsecured liabiliti es

Other payables 5 -

5 -

Note 15. Financial liabilities

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current

Secured liabiliti es

Hire purchase liability 8,391 8,311

8,391 8,311

Non-current

Secured liabiliti es

Hire purchase liability 12,183 4,820

12,183 4,820

(a) Total current and non-current secured loans

      Hire purchase liabiliti es 20,574 13,131

20,574 13,131

(b) The carrying amount of non-current assets pledges as fi rst security are:

      Assets over which lease and hire purchase contracts apply (plant and equipment and
     motor vehicles

21,630 13,253

21,630 13,253
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Note 16. Tax

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Liabiliti es

      Current

      Tax payable 2,918 -

      Non-current

      Deferred tax liabiliti es comprise:

      Property, plant and equipment (revaluati on adjustments) 786 1,608

      Debtor retenti ons 1,417 1,399

2,203 3,007

(b) Assets

      Non-current

      Deferred tax assets comprise:

      Property, plant & equipment 3,075 2,485

      Provision and accruals 1,889 1,969

      Tax losses - 841

4,964 5,295

(c) Reconciliati ons

      Gross movements

       The overall movement in net deferred tax assets is as follows:

       Opening balance 2,288 2,718

       Over-provision in respect to prior years 101 -

       (Charge) / credit to income statement 389 (430)

       Revaluati on of freehold land credited to equity 255 -

       Disposal of revalued assets 569 -

       Uti lisati on of tax losses (841) -

2,761 2,288
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Note 17. Provisions

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current

Employee benefi ts 5,593 5,258

Non-current

Employee benefi ts 1,186 1,224

Consolidated Group employee benefi ts

Opening balance for the year 6,482 5,954

Additi onal provisions 4,138 3,800

Amounts used (3,841) (3,272)

Balance at year end 6,779 6,482

Provision for long-term employee benefi ts

A provision has been recognised for employee enti tlements relati ng to long service leave.  In calculati ng the present value 
of the future cash fl ows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based on 
historical data.  The measurement and recogniti on criteria relati ng to employee benefi ts has been included in note 1 to 
this report.

Note 18. Issued capital
(a) Ordinary shares

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Issued and paid up capital 40,884 41,056

 - 63,645,933 fully paid ordinary shares 2012

 - 63,884,474 fully paid ordinary shares 2011

Number Number

Ordinary shares

Movements in ordinary share capital

Balance at the beginning of the fi nancial year 63,884,474 63,884,474

Shares bought back and cancelled (November 2011 - June 2012) (238,541) -

63,645,933 63,884,474

(i) Ordinary shares parti cipate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent enti ty in proporti on to the  
 number of shares held.

(ii) At shareholders meeti ngs each ordinary share is enti tled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each   
 shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

(iii) Ordinary shares have no par value and the company does not have a limited amount of authorized capital.

(iv) Shares bought back on market prior to balance date were acquired at values ranging between 67c and 78c per  
 share. Costs associated with the buyback amounted to $5,261.
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Note 18. Issued Capital (continued)
(b) Capital Management
 Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt to equity rati o, provide the  
 shareholders with adequate returns and to ensure that the Group can fund its operati ons and conti nue as a going  
 concern.

 The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and fi nancial liabiliti es, supported by fi nancial assets.

 There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

 Management eff ecti vely manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s fi nancial risks and adjusti ng its  
 capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market.

 These responses include where necessary, the management of debt levels, distributi ons to shareholders and  
 share issues. 

 There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the  
 prior year. 

Note 19. Reserves
Nature and Purpose of Reserves

Asset Revaluati on Surplus

The asset revaluati on surplus includes the net revaluati on increments and decrements arising from the revaluati on of non-
current assets in accordance with Australian Accounti ng Standards.

Capital Profi ts Reserve

Upon disposal of re-valued assets, any related revaluati on increment standing to the credit of the asset revaluati on surplus 
is transferred to the capital profi ts reserve.  Refer to accounti ng policy Note 1(e).

Foreign Currency Translati on Reserve

The foreign currency translati on reserve records exchange diff erences arising on the translati on of foreign operati ons with 
functi onal currencies other than those of the presentati on currency of these fi nancial statements. Refer to accounti ng 
policy Note 1(l).

Note 20. Capital and leasing commitments
STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 

GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Hire purchase future minimum payments

 - Not later than 1 year 9,693 6,992

 - Later than 1 year, but not later than 5 years 13,430 7,426

Total maximum lease commitment 23,123 14,418

Future fi nance charges (2,549) (1,287)

20,574 13,131

Hire purchase agreements have been entered into to fi nance the acquisiti on of equipment used for income generati on 
purposes.  The great majority of equipment currently under fi nance is plant and equipment employed by ROCK Australia 
Mining + Civil Pty Ltd, primarily drill rigs.

Non-cancellable operati ng leases future minimum payments

Contracted for but not capitalised in accounts

 - Not later than 1 year 1,551 1,847

 - Later than 1 year, but not later than 5 years 2,437 2,782

 - Later than 5 years - -

3,988 4,629

Various non-cancellable operati ng leases taken by the Group relate to property it occupies for various income-
generati ng acti viti es.  All leases are taken under normal commercial terms.
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Note 21. Contingent Liabilities

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Contract cash retenti on (1) 4,675 4,614

Contract performance guarantees (1) 10,128 10,567

Guarantees by the Company in respect of bank faciliti es of controlled enti ti es 1,701 2,385

Cross guarantees by the Company and controlled enti ti es in respect of bank faciliti es 43,040 40,550

59,544 58,116
(1) Amounts relate to security held for the purpose of ensuring the due and proper performance of contracts undertaken by the Group. 
   These amounts are released at various stages of the contracts.

Note 22.  Cash fl ow information

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Reconciliati on of cash

      Cash at the end of the reporti ng period as shown in the statement of cash fl ow is
      reconciled to the items in the statement of fi nancial positi on

      Cash on hand 24 27

      Cash at bank 8,217 4,901

      Bank overdraft - -

8,241 4,928

(b) Reconciliati on of cash fl ow from operati ons with profi t (loss) aft er income tax

      Profi t (loss) aft er income tax 7,996 4,472

Non-cash fl ows in profi t

Depreciati on and amorti sati on 10,931 9,158

Bad debts writt en off - 474

Bad and doubtf ul debts (114) (9)

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 70 -

Impairment loss on investments - 175

(Profi t) loss on sale of non-current assets (293) (157)

(Profi t) loss on sale of non-current investments - -

Change in assets and liabiliti es

 - (Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (9,215) 7,766

 - (Increase) decrease in inventories (4,862) 2,773

 - (Increase) decrease in prepayments (28) 129

 - (Decrease) increase in trade, other payables and accruals 8,071 (14,318)

 - (Decrease) increase provisions 296 528

 - (Decrease) increase in income taxes payable 2,918 724

 - (Decrease) increase in deferred tax liabiliti es (548) (285)

 - (Increase) decrease in deferred tax assets 331 711

Net cash provided by (used in) operati ng acti viti es 15,553 12,141

(c) Non-cash fi nancing and investi ng acti viti es

Property, plant and equipment acquired under fi nance leases, lease purchase or vendor 
fi nance

14,901 10,410
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Note 22. Cash fl ow information (continued)

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(d) Acquisiti on of enti ti es

During the year the Company made the following deferred payments under contract of 
sale

Meridian Concrete Australia 1,000 -

Total cash outf low 1,000 -

(e) Disconti nued operati on

In October 2009, the Group disposed of its formwork division in Structural Systems 
(Constructi on) Pty Ltd

The profi t (loss) for the year from the disconti nued operati on is as follows:

Loss of formwork division operati ons for the year - (5,038)

Gain (loss) on disposal - (10)

- (5,048)

The following were the results of the formwork division business for the year

Revenue - 688

Operati ng expenses - (7,885)

Loss before income tax - (7,197)

Income tax benefi t - 2,159

Loss aft er income tax - (5,038)

Net cash provided by (used in) operati ng acti viti es in relati on to disconti nued operati ons - (5,415)
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Note 23. Particulars relating to controlled entities
(a) Group accounts include a consolidati on of the following:

Place of 
incorporati on

Principal Acti vity
Ownership interest

2012 2011

Emirates & Australia Constructi on Systems LLC UAE Constructi on 100% 100%

Meridian Concrete Australia Pty Ltd Victoria Constructi on 100% 100%

NASA Structural Systems LLC UAE Constructi on 100% 100%

Refobar Australia Pty Ltd Queensland Manufacturing 100% 100%

ROCK Australia Mining and Civil Pty Ltd Victoria Mining Services 100% 100%

SSL Structural Systems (Africa) (Proprietary) Limited South Africa Constructi on 10% 10%

Structural Systems (Bridge Maintenance) Pty Ltd Victoria Constructi on 100% 100%

Structural Systems (Civil) Pty Ltd Victoria Constructi on 100% 100%

Structural Systems (Constructi on) Pty Ltd Victoria Constructi on 100% 100%

Structural Systems (Northern) Pty Ltd Victoria Constructi on 100% 100%

Structural Systems (Remedial) Pty Ltd Victoria Constructi on 100% 100%

Structural Systems (Southern) Pty Ltd Victoria Constructi on 100% 100%

Structural Systems (Western) Pty Ltd Victoria Constructi on 100% 100%

Structural Systems Middle East LLC UAE Constructi on 100% 100%

Total Fire Protecti on Pty Ltd Victoria Dormant 100% 100%

Note 24. Related party information
Directors who held offi  ce during the year are:

• Peter J McMorrow 

• Ian L Fraser

• Robert W Freedman

• David R Perry 

Directors’ remunerati on is disclosed in Note 5. There were no other related party transacti ons in the year.

It is the Group’s policy that any transacti ons between related parti es are on normal commercial terms and conditi ons no 
more favourable than those available to other parti es.
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Note 25. Segment results
Identi fi cati on of reportable segments

The Group has identi fi ed its operati ng segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of 
Directors (chief operati ng decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocati on of resources.

The Group is managed primarily on the basis of product category and service off erings as the diversifi cati on of the Group’s 
operati ons inherently have notably diff erent risk profi les and performance assessment criteria. Operati ng segments are 
therefore determined on the same basis.

Types of products and services by segment:

• Constructi on segment

The constructi on segment delivers specialist constructi on services, specifi cally post tensioning, concrete placement and 
remedial operati ons.

• Mining segment

The mining segment services mining clients and specialises in producti on drilling.

• Corporate segment

The corporate segment represents the enti ty that conducts transacti ons relati ng to Group fi nance, taxati on, treasury, 
corporate secretarial and certain strategic investments. 

Basis of accounti ng for purposes of reporti ng by operati ng segments:

(a) Accounti ng policies adopted

Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors, being the chief decision maker with respect to 
operati ng segments, are determined in accordance with accounti ng policies that are consistent to those adopted in the 
annual fi nancial statements of the Group. 

(b) Inter-segment transacti ons

An internally determined transfer price is set for all inter-segment sales. This price is reviewed periodically to ensure that 
sales are made at arm’s length. All such transacti ons are eliminated on consolidati on of the Group’s fi nancial statements.     

Corporate Charges are allocated to reporti ng segments based on the segments’ overall proporti on of revenue generati on 
within the Group.  The Board of Directors believes this is representati ve of likely consumpti on of head offi  ce expenditure 
that should be used in assessing segment performance and cost recoveries.

Inter-segment loans payable and receivable are initi ally recognised at the considerati on received/ to be received net of 
transacti on costs. 

(c) Segment assets and liabiliti es

Where an asset or liability is used across multi ple segments, it is allocated on a pro-rata basis to the segments that receive 
the benefi t of use of the asset or represent the source of the obligati on of the liability.
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Note 25. Segment results (continued)
Primary reporti ng - Business segments

Constructi on Mining Corporate
Consolidated 

Group (Conti nuing 
Operati ons)

Disconti nued 
Operati ons

30/06/12 30/06/11 30/06/12 30/06/11 30/06/12 30/06/11 30/06/12 30/06/11 30/06/12 30/06/11

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

External Sales 180,408 153,790 98,764 82,589 - - 279,172 236,379 - 688

Other Sales 770 488 115 - - - 885 488 - -

Total sales revenue 181,178 154,278 98,879 82,589 - - 280,057 236,867 - 688

Unallocated revenue 13 63 254 108 154 101 421 272

Total revenue 181,191 154,341 99,133 82,697 154 101 280,478 237,139 - 688

Results

Segment result 8,232 6,499 5,320 8,409 (2,855) (3,043) 10,697 11,865 - (7,197)

Income tax benefi t / (expense) - - - - (2,701) (2,355) (2,701) (2,355) - 2,159

Profi t aft er income tax 8,232 6,499 5,320 8,409 (5,556) (5,398) 7,996 9,510 - (5,038)

Assets

Segment assets 86,849 79,851 46,275 37,612 16,410 11,587 149,534 129,050

Total assets 86,849 79,851 46,275 37,612 16,410 11,587 149,534 129,050

Liabiliti es

Segment liabiliti es 36,070 29,413 28,985 19,915 7,966 7,889 73,021 57,217

Total liabiliti es 36,070 29,413 28,985 19,915 7,966 7,889 73,021 57,217

Other

Acquisiti ons of non-current 
segment assets (including 
hire purchase and lease 
commitments)

2,223 1,148 17,360 11,967 - 429 19,584 13,544

Depreciati on and amorti sati on 
of segment assets

2,420 1,677 8,438 7,394 73 87 10,931 9,158

Revenue and assets by geographical region for conti nuing operati ons

Australia United Arab Emirates Consolidated Group

30/06/12 30/06/11 30/06/12 30/06/11 30/06/12 30/06/11

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Segment revenues for external customers 274,577 229,360 5,901 7,779 280,478 237,139

Carrying amount of segment assets 144,738 121,993 4,796 7,057 149,534 129,050

Acquisiti on of non-current segment assets 19,538 13,544 46 - 19,584 13,544
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Note 26.  Financing arrangements
The consolidated Group has access to the following lines of credit:

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Total faciliti es available

Bank overdraft s 3,000 3,000

Commercial bill facility 5,000 5,000

Hire purchase facility 25,000 20,000

Other faciliti es 2,582 2,490

Bank guarantee facility 20,068 20,068

Surety bond facility 30,000 25,000

85,650 75,558

Faciliti es used at the end of the reporti ng period:

Bank overdraft s - -

Commercial bill facility - -

Hire purchase facility 20,574 13,253

Other faciliti es 2,582 2,490

Bank guarantee facility 10,128 9,676

Surety bond facility 3,621 4,378

36,905 29,797

Faciliti es not used at the end of the reporti ng period:

Bank overdraft s 3,000 3,000

Commercial bill facility 5,000 5,000

Hire purchase facility 4,426 6,747

Other faciliti es - -

Bank guarantee faciliti es 9,940 10,392

Surety bond facility 26,379 20,622

48,745 45,761

Finance faciliti es of the Group are secured by a registered fi rst mortgage over the Group land and buildings and registered 
mortgage debenture over all assets of the Group and an interlocking guarantee and indemnity between all enti ti es 
within the group. Overdraft  faciliti es are a set-off  arrangement, off -setti  ng balances of all bank accounts. Interest on bank 
overdraft s is charged at prevailing market rates, currently 13.05% (2011 – 13.41%). The bank guarantee facility is used 
to provide contract performance guarantees in lieu of cash retenti ons and security deposits.  Fees charged are 2.0% per 
annum of facility uti lised, subject to a minimum charge per individual guarantee (2011 – 1.5%). The commercial bills are 
exercisable for a period of up to three months at the discreti on of the Group and the facility has been granted for a period 
of up to three years subject to Structural Systems Limited sati sfying standard commercial terms. ‘Other facility’ includes a 
lett er of credit to the value of AUD $1.632 million (2011: $1.534 million), and a corporate credit card facility of $200,000 
(2011: $200,000).
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Note 27. Financial Instruments
Signifi cant accounti ng and risk management policies

Details of the signifi cant accounti ng policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recogniti on, the basis 
of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of fi nancial 
asset, fi nancial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 to the fi nancial statements. The group’s fi nancial 
instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable and hire purchase liabiliti es. The main 
purpose of non-derivati ve fi nancial instruments is to provide working capital for group operati ons. The group does not 
hold or trade with derivati ve instruments.

Treasury Risk Management   

Management, consisti ng of senior executi ves of the group meet on a regular basis to analyse fi nancial risk exposure, and 
to evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditi ons and forecasts. This 
management process is subject to board policies and directi ves implemented, and subsequently reviewed by the Board on 
a periodic basis. 

Interest Rate Risk

The Group has a mixture of variable and fi xed interest rate fi nancial instruments. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk 
on its variable interest rate fi nancial instruments is in the potenti al for cash fl ows to diff er from their forecast amounts. 
As the Group’s variable interest rate fi nancial instruments are predominantly cash and cash equivalents the Group has 
assessed the risk arising from changes to interest rates to be not signifi cant.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on its fi xed interest rate fi nancial instruments relates to the potenti al for its 
lease and lease purchase liabiliti es, which are measured at amorti sed cost, to signifi cantly diff er from their fair value 
amounts. Discounted cash fl ow models, applying interest rates existi ng at the end of the reporti ng period for similar types 
of liabiliti es are used to determine such fair values. Diff erences between fair values and carrying values largely represent 
movements in the eff ecti ve interest rate determined on initi al recogniti on and current market rates, summarised as 
follows:

STRUCTURAL 
SYSTEMS GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current fi nance lease and hire purchase liabiliti es

Carrying value at amorti sed cost 8,391 8,311

Fair value 9,401 7,945

Non-current fi nance lease and hire purchase liabiliti es

Carrying value at amorti sed cost 12,183 4,820

Fair value 12,024 4,211
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Note 27. Financial Instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk

The consolidated group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking faciliti es and by conti nuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash fl ows and matching the maturity profi les of fi nancial assets and liabiliti es.

Credit risk

The consolidated group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts 
owing to the Group as and when they fall due. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits held by banks 
and outstanding receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security 
at the end of the reporti ng period in respect of recognised fi nancial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 
doubtf ul debts of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of fi nancial positi on and notes to fi nancial statements.

As a result of the diverse range of services and geographical spread covered by the consolidated group, the consolidated 
group does not have a concentrati on of credit risk to any one enti ty. Whilst the group does have a broad risk to lead 
contractors in the constructi on industry generally, this is managed on a ‘customer by customer’ basis, taking into account 
rati ngs from credit agencies, trade references and payment history where there is a pre-existi ng relati onship with that 
enti ty.

Price Risk

The group is exposed to commodity price risk through its consumpti on of steel in the post-tensioning businesses, and to 
a lesser degree in the mining services business. The group monitors forward steel prices and endeavours to lock in agreed 
prices on a project by project basis prior to formalising bid prices wherever possible.  As at 30 June 2012 the Group held no 
fi nancial instruments that could vary according to changes in the price of steel (2011: nil).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The group holds foreign denominated currency.  To miti gate the risk of fl uctuati ons in exchange rates, these currencies are 
rigorously monitored by management and frequently repatriated and held in the Australian dollar.  

Financial Instrument compositi on and maturity analysis

The consolidated group’s exposure to interest rate risk, eff ecti ve weighted average interest rate, contractual sett lement 
terms of a fi xed period of maturity as well as management’s expectati ons of sett lement period for fi nancial instruments are 
set out below. These amounts exclude interest payments.

Net Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabiliti es Valuati on Approach
Net fair values of fi nancial assets and liabiliti es are determined by the consolidated group on the following basis:

Monetary fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabiliti es not readily traded in an organised fi nancial market are determined by 
valuing them at the present value of contractual future cash fl ows on amounts due from customers (reduced for expected 
credit losses) or due to suppliers.  Cash fl ows are discounted using standard valuati on techniques at the applicable market 
yield having regard to the ti ming of the cash fl ows.  With the excepti on of the fair value sensiti viti es arising on the Group’s 
fi xed interest rate fi nancial liabiliti es, as discussed in the analysis of interest rate risk above, the carrying amounts of all 
fi nancial instruments disclosed above are at their approximate net fair values.
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Note 27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Fixed interest rate maturing within

Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate
Floati ng  

Interest Rate
1 year or

 less
Over 1 year 

to 5 years
More than 

5 years
Non-interest 

bearing Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3.50% 8,217 - - - 24 8,241

Receivables - - - - - 64,017 64,017

8,217 - - - 64,041 72,258

2012

Financial Liabiliti es

Payables - - - - - 10,903 10,903

Lease and lease purchase liabiliti es 7.71% - 8,391 12,183 - - 20,574

- 8,391 12,183 - 10,903 31,477

Fixed interest rate maturing within

Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate
Floati ng  

Interest Rate
1 year or

 less
Over 1 year 

to 5 years
More than 

5 years
Non-interest 

bearing Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2011

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4.25% 4,902 - - - 26 4,928

Receivables - - - - - 54,682 54,682

4,902 - - - 54,708 59,610

2011

Financial Liabiliti es

Payables - - - - - 10,540 10,540

Lease and lease purchase liabiliti es 8.50% - 8,311 4,820 - - 13,131

- 8,311 4,820 - 10,540 23,671

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS 
GROUP

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid (less than 6 months) 30,543 34,598

30,543 34,598

Note 28. Events after the reporting period
No matt ers or circumstances have arisen since the end of the fi nancial year which signifi cantly aff ected or may signifi cantly 
aff ect the operati ons of the Group, the results of those operati ons, or the state of aff airs of the Group in future fi nancial 
years.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS LIMITED ABN 57 006 413 574

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The directors of the company declare that:

1. The fi nancial statements and notes, as set out on pages 27 to 63 and the remunerati on report in the Directors’ Report 
are in accordance with the Corporati ons Act 2001 and:

 (a) comply with Accounti ng Standards, which, as stated in accounti ng policy Note 1 to the fi nancial   
  statements, consti tutes explicit and unreserved compliance with Internati onal Financial Reporti ng  
  Standards (IFRS); and

 (b) give a true and fair view of the fi nancial positi on as at 30 June 2012 and of the performance for   
 the year ended on that date of the company and consolidated group;

2. The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Offi  cer have each declared that:

 (a) the fi nancial records of the company for the fi nancial year have been properly maintained in   
 accordance with secti on 286 of the Corporati ons Act 2001;

 (b) the fi nancial statements and notes for the fi nancial year comply with the accounti ng standards;   
 and

 (c) the fi nancial statements and notes for the fi nancial year give a true and fair view;

3. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

This declarati on is made in accordance with a resoluti on of the Board of Directors.

R W FREEDMAN - DIRECTOR

D R PERRY - DIRECTOR

Dated:  28 September 2012

D DDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD R PERRY - DIRECTCTCTCTCTCTCTTCTCTCTOR

Dated:  28 Sepppppptetetetetetettetet mber 2

R W FREEDMAN DIRECTO
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Distributi on of shareholders and shareholdings at close of business 31 August 2012

Size of holding Number of shareholders Number of shares

1-1,000 227 124,773

1,001 to 5,000 405 1,171,012

5,001 to 10,000 260 2,024,733

10,001 to 100,000 528 16,701,529

100,001 and over 84 43,422,427

1,504 63,444,474

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel ($500.00) at 31 August 2012 is 128 holding 33,253 
shares.

Twenty largest shareholders Number of shares Percentage of issued capital

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,708,806 18.46

Nati onal Nominees Pty Limited 4,886,620 7.70

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 2,295,233 3.62

Sandhurst Trustees Ltd <JMFG Consol A/c> 1,805,820 2.85

Kingemel Pty Ltd 1,504,743 2.37

Tintagel Nominees Pty Ltd 1,099,136 1.73

Mr Philip Henry Hall 1,050,000 1.65

Mr Peter John McMorrow <McMorrow Super Fund A/C> 1,019,887 1.61

Escor Investments Pty Ltd 900,000 1.42

Mrs Hilary Jean Hall 600,000 0.95

Mr Kenneth John Beer <Beer Super Fund A/c> 564,941 0.89

Mr David Bates <Bates Super Fund A/c> 550,000 0.87

Harg Pty Limited 503,773 0.79

Velkov Funds Management Limited <Victor Value Fund A/C> 490,000 0.77

JD Building Pty Ltd 488,788 0.77

Onitrammas Nominees Pty Ltd 488,787 0.77

Sandhurst Trustees Ltd <JM Mps A/C> 475,986 0.75

Solana Pty Ltd 471,543 0.74

Mr David Perry 390,000 0.61

Akir Pty Ltd 350,000 0.55

Top 20 holders of ordinary fully paid shares as at 31 August 2012 31,644,063 49.88

Substanti al shareholders Number of shares Percentage of issued capital

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,708,806 18.46

Nati onal Nominees Pty Limited 4,886,620 7.70

There is currently an on-market share buyback. 
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Voti ng rights

Shareholders are encouraged to att end the Annual General Meeti ng. However, when this is not possible, they are 
encouraged to use the form of Proxy by which they can express their views on matt ers being brought forward at the 
meeti ng.

Every shareholder, proxy or shareholder’s representati ve has one vote on a show of hands. In the case of a poll, each share 
held by every shareholder, proxy or representati ve is enti tled to one vote for each fully paid share.

Dividend reinvestment plan

The directors have determined that the dividend reinvestment plan remains suspended.

Dividend Payment Direct to a Bank, Building Society or Credit Union Account

Australian Shareholders may elect to have dividends paid directly into any Bank, Building Society or Credit Union account in 
Australia.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Stuart Gray.

Registered Offi  ce

The registered offi  ce of the Company is:

112 Munro Street, South Melbourne Victoria 3205

Telephone: (03) 9296 8100

Facsimile: (03) 9646 7133

Website:  www.structuralsystems.com.au

Stock Exchange Listi ng

Structural Systems Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securiti es Exchange. Home exchange is Melbourne.

Share Register 

If you have any questi ons in relati on to your shareholding, please contact our Share Registry:

Computershare Registry Services Pty Limited

452 Johnston Street

Abbotsford Victoria 3067

Telephone: 1300 137 328

Facsimile: 1300 137 341

Please include your shareholder reference number (SRN) or holder identi fi cati on number (HIN) in all correspondence to 
the Share Registry.

Incorporati on

Structural Systems Limited is incorporated in the State of Victoria.

Auditors

William Buck.

Bankers

Nati onal Australia Bank. 
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